



Official journal of Atatürk University Faculty of Pharmacy Formerly: International Journal of PharmaATA

Volume 4 • Issue 2 • April 2024

Editor

Yücel KADIOĞLU ^(D) Department of Analytical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Section Editors

Fatma DEMIRKAYA MILOĞLU Department of Analytical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Nurcan KILIÇ BAYGUTALP Department of Biochemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Rüstem Anıl UĞAN Department of Pharmacology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Technical Editors

Amine Sena AYDIN 💿

Department of Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Burak BAYRAK 💿

Department of Analytical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Language Editors

Yaşar Furkan KILINBOZ[®] Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Nagihan KARAGÖL Department of Pharmaceutical Toxicology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Büşra ŞAHİN MAZLUMOĞLU Department of Pharmaceutical Toxicology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Enes TEKMAN () Department of Pharmaceutical Botany, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Fatma Betül YOLADI Department of Pharmaceutical Toxicology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Büşra YÜKSEL¹⁰ Department of Analytical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Yücel KADIOĞLU Atatürk Universit

Contact (Editor in Chief)

Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Analytical Chemistry, Erzurum, Turkey

 \boxtimes yucel@atauni.edu.tr

https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/pharmata

Contact (Publisher

Atatürk University

Atatürk University, Erzurum, Turkey Atatürk Üniversitesi Rektörlüğü 25240 Erzurum, Türkiye ataunijournals@atauni.edu.tr

<u>Attorijournais@atauni.edu.tr</u>
<u>https://bilimseldergiler.atauni.e</u>du.tr

Editorial Board

Abeer AL-GHANANEEM

College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences, Louisville Campus, Louisville, KY, USA

Bashar A. AL-KHALIDI

Department of Pharmaceutics and Pharmaceutical Technology, Jordan University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Amman, Jordan

Ayla BALKAN

Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Hacettepe University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Ankara, Turkey

Yasin BAYIR

Department of Biochemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Ghulam Hussain BHATTI Cadet College Hasan Abdal Kimya, Pakistan

Antony C. CALOKERİNOS

Department of Chemistry, Laboratory of Analytical Chemistry, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens School of Sciences, Athens, Greece

Elif ÇADIRCI

Department of Medical Pharmacology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Medicine, Erzurum, Turkey

Meltem **ÇETİN**

Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Umashankar DAS

University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada

Şeref DEMİRAYAK

Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry - Kocaeli Sağlık ve Teknoloji Üniversitesi Kocaeli, Turkey

Beyzagül ERKAYMAN

Department of Pharmacology, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Halise İnci GÜL

Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Mine GÜLABOĞLU

Department of Biochemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

İlhami GÜLÇİN

Department of Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Science, Erzurum, Turkey

Zuhal GÜVENALP

Department of Pharmacognosy, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Ahmet HASSAN

Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry and Quality Control of Medicaments, Faculty of Pharmacy, Damascus University, Damascus, Syria

Hasan KÜÇÜKBAY

Department of Chemistry, İnönü University, Faculty of Science, Malatya, Turkey

F. Zehra KÜÇÜKBAY

Department of Analytical Chemistry, İnönü University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Malatya, Turkey

İlkay Erdoğan ORHAN

Department of Pharmacognosy, Gazi University, Faculty of Science, Ankara, Turkey

Karel ŠMEJKAL

Department of Natural Drugs, Masaryk University, Brno, Czechia

Bilal YILMAZ

Department of Analytical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey

Editorial Staff

Burak BAYRAK E-mail: burak.bayrak@atauni.edu.tr

ABOUT THE PHARMATA

Pharmata is a peer reviewed, open access, online-only journal published by the Atatürk University.

Pharmata is a quarterly journal that is published in English in January, April, July, and October.

Journal History

As of 2023, the journal has changed its title to Pharmata.

Current Title Pharmata EISSN: 2980-1966

Previous Title (2021-2022) International Journal of PharmATA EISSN: 2791-9196

Abstracting and Indexing

Pharmata is covered in the following abstracting and indexing databases;

• EBSCO

Aims, Scope, and Audience

Pharmata aims to contribute to the scientific literature by publishing manuscripts of the highest caliber. The journal accepts research articles, reviews, and short communications that adhere to ethical guidelines. The scope of the journal encompasses various topics, including but not limited to:

. _.

- 1. Pharmaceutical analysis of complex systems
- 2. Quality control and methods for biotech drugs
- 3. Action mechanisms and metabolism of drugs in the body
- 4. Quantitative and qualitative analysis in the drug screening process
- 5. Molecular pharmacology
- 6. Biopharmaceutics
- 7. Pharmacognosy
- 8. Pharmaceutical botany
- 9. Pharmaceutical technology studies
- 10. Clinical laboratory and bioanalysis
- 11. Pharmacological studies
- 12. Toxicological studies
- 13. Analytical chemistry techniques and methods
- 14. New biochemistry methods for pharmaceutical analysis
- 15. Rapid screening methods
- 16. New analytical techniques and methods
- 17. Pharmaceutical chemistry
- 18. Synthesis and analysis of new drug molecules
- 19. Other areas: pharmaceutical solid materials (including biomaterials, polymers, and nanoparticles), biotechnology products (including genes, peptides, proteins, and vaccines), engineered cells.

The target audience of the journal includes researchers and specialists who have an interest in or are working in any of the fields covered by the journal's scope.

You can find the current version of the Instructions to Authors at https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/pharmata.

Editor in Chief: Yücel KADIOĞLU Address: Department of Analytical Chemistry, Atatürk University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erzurum, Turkey E-mail: yucel@atauni.edu.tr

Publisher: Atatürk University Address: Atatürk University, Yakutiye, Erzurum, Turkey E-mail: ataunijournals@atauni.edu.tr

CONTENTS

RESEARCH ARTICLES

- 31 Are 25-hydroxyvitamin D deficiency and Helicobacter pylori infection more common in obese people? Adil Furkan KILIÇ, Muharrem BAYRAK, Kenan ÇADIRCI
- **39 Determination of Total Phenolic Contents and Antioxidant Activities of Different Extracts** Lale DUYSAK, Sedanur KASIMOĞULLARI, Nurcan KILIÇ BAYGUTALP
- 46 Elucidating Ionization Behavior: Potentiometric Titration for Precise Determination of pKa Values in Medicinal Chemistry

Durişehvar Özer ÜNAL, Safiye Nihal AYDOĞDU

51 Exploring the Synthesis of Nanoemulsions and Assessing Their Antimicrobial Effects Hatice GİRGİN, Hayrunnisa NADAROĞLU

REVIEW

60 Comparison of In Silico AChE Inhibitory Potentials of Some Donepezil Analogues Mehmet KOCA



Adil Furkan KILIC¹ Muharrem BAYRAK¹ Kenan ÇADIRCI¹

Health Sciences University, Erzurum Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Erzurum. Turkev



Received	
Accepted	
Publication Date	

10.03.2024 23.04.2024 Corresponding author:

18.01.2024

Muharrem BAYRAK E-mail: muharem.bayrak@sbu.edu.tr Cite this article: Kılıç AF, Bayrak M, Çadırcı K. Are 25-hydroxyvitamin D deficiency and Helicobacter pylori infection more common in obese people?. Pharmata. 2024;4(2):31-38



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 4.0 International License.

Are 25-hydroxyvitamin D deficiency and *Helicobacter* pylori infection more common in obese people?

ABSTRACT

Objective: Introduction: Our study aimed to show the significant relationship between Helicobacter pylori (Hp) positivity and 25-hydroxy vitamin D deficiency in obese individuals. Materials and Methods: Patients over the age of 20 who applied to the internal medicine department with dyspeptic complaints between January 1, 2019, and December 31, 2019, were divided into three groups as 18-24.9 (normal weight), 25-29.9 (overweight), 30-39.9 (obese) according to their body mass indexes (BMI). Urea breath test for Hp infection, 25hydroxyvitamin D and other biochemical parameters, anthropometric measurements, education levels, systemic diseases, smoking history of patients who did not use proton pump inhibitor, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D for the last six months were retrospectively analyzed from the patient file archive.

Results: The study was carried out with 632 cases, 51.6% (n = 326) of the patients were male, and 48.4% (n = 306) were female. The ages of the cases ranged from 21 to 65, and the mean age was 43.97 ± 12.87 years.Body mass index measurements of the cases included in the study ranged between 18.8 and 39.9 kg/m², with a mean of 28.02 \pm 4.98 kg/m²; %31.3% (n = 198) were normal weight, 35.5% (n = 224) were overweight and 33.2% (n = 210) were obese.

Conclusion: We think that vitamin D deficiency should be eliminated for eradication treatment in Hp positive individuals, and Hp should be investigated closely in obese people.We want to state that the study will contribute to studies on the relationship between *Hp* and vitamin D deficiency in obese people in the literature.

Keywords: 25-Hydroxyvitamin deficiency, *Helicobacter pylori*, obesity.

INTRODUCTION

The worldwide prevalence of obesity has been increasing. The prevalence of obesity in the United States (US) is over 20%, and the prevalence in 30 states of the US is over 25%. Of the people over 18 years of age in Europe, 35.9% were of overweight (BMI between 25-29.9 kg/m²), and 17.2% were obese.¹ The relationship of obesity with Helicobacter pylori (Hp) infection, as its relationship to the increase in the prevalence of type-2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular diseases, has been addressed in several studies, some of which indicated a positive association.^{2,3} This relationship could not be demonstrated in the NHANES III study.⁴ Kamada et al. have shown that the patients undergoing Hp eradication gained more weight than the patients without eradication.⁵ The Hp is a microorganism that has infected more than half of the world population, with the prevalence varying with age and countries' level of development.⁶ The Hp is a bacterium that resides in the gastric mucosa and has been associated with peptic ulcer, chronic gastritis, and gastric cancer.⁷ Polymorphonuclear leukocyte infiltration is observed in gastric mucosa with acute infection, the effects of which are not clear. The immune response to acute infection leads to mononuclear cell infiltration an increase in proinflammatory cytokine is observed with inflammation.⁸ In recent years studies, the risk of urinary tract infections, respiratory tract infections, tuberculosis has been increased with 25-hydroxyvitamin-D vitamin deficiency.⁹⁻¹¹ Vitamin D receptor (VDR) has been shown to play a crucial antimicrobial role against Hp.¹² Pro-inflammatory cytokines in the Hp infection have been shown in various studies to produce extragastric effects such as obesity, metabolic syndrome, and 25-hydroxyvitamin deficiency.13-15 D (vitamin D)

Adipose tissue is one of the main locations of storage for vitamin D.¹⁶ Adipogenic gene expression plays an important role in the regulation of vitamin D. Vitamin D reduces the release of cytokines and inflammation of visceral adipose tissue by the inhibition of the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain (NF-kB).¹⁶ Recent studies have indicated that the inflammation accompanying insulin resistance and the increased release of proinflammatory cytokines affected the synthesis of vitamin D negatively.^{17,18} Recent studies have shown that insulin resistance in obese individuals and type-2 diabetes mellitus influence vitamin D receptors, leading to vitamin D deficiency.^{19,20}

Various studies have investigated the relationship between obesity and *Hp* infection. We aimed to investigate the relationship between *Hp* infection and vitamin D deficiency in obese people.

METHODS

The study included the patients who applied to the Department of Internal Medicine at our hospital due to distension, epigastric pain, and dyspeptic complaints between 1 January and 31 December 2019. This study was approved by the Ethical Commitee (Date: 06.01.2020, Decision No: 01/03).

All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Exclusion Criteria

The study excluded the patients who had undergone Hp eradication, had received other drug therapies in the past six months (oral anti-diabetics, antihyperlipidemics, proton pump inhibitors, vitamin D supplements, anti-inflammatory drugs, antibiotics); had acute and chronic infections, autoimmune diseases, refractory anemia, thrombocytopenia, solid tumors or hematological malignancies, chronic liver disease, chronic kidney disease, or inflammatory bowel disease; were positive for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) or anti-HCV,;had had a gastric operation; or were under the age of 20 years.

A total of 632 patients were divided into three groups based on their body-mass indices (BMIs): normal weight (18-24.9 kg/m²), overweight (25-29.9 kg/m²), and obese (30-39.9 kg/m²). The patient files were examined for socioeconomic indicators and smoking history.

Laboratory Tests and Anthropometric Measurements

The patient records were examined for the laboratory tests and anthropometric measurements done in the last three months. The patients' fasting glucose, postprandial glucose, glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), aminotransferase alanine (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), triglyceride (TG), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), total cholesterol, albumin, uric acid, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), vitamin D, and serum reactive protein (CRP) were investigated.

Vitamin D

Blood samples were collected in tubes containing ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), centrifuged, and collected into microcentrifuge tubes. Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D was determined with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometer (LC-MS/MS), and by using the ARCHITECT 5P02 kit and (Abbot ARCHITECT analyzer). Vitamin D levels were measured in December, January, or February. Serum 25-hydroxy D vitamin levels were considered as vitamin deficiency of less than 20 nmol/L.

Urea Breath Test

For the 13C urea breath test, the patients ingested a capsule containing 75 mg 13C-urea (which decomposes into carbon dioxide and ammonia) with 200 mL of liquids (orange juice, grapefruit juice, etc.) after at least 12 hours of fasting. Before the ingestion of the capsule, a baseline breath sample was collected into a breath collection bag with a mouthpiece (Helibacter Test INFAI). A second breath sample was collected after the ingestion. The baseline value at minute 0, and the value at 30th minute were recorded, and delta over baseline value was determined with HeliFan plus[®] (Fisher Analysen Instrumente GmgH, Leipzig, Germany). A delta over baseline value (DOB, δ ‰) at above or 3.0 δ ‰. was considered a positive test result. This test has a sensitivity of 95% and a specificity of 100%.

Waist Circumference

Waist circumference was measured between the arcus costarium and spina ilica anterior superior when the person was standing, with normal expiration and an empty stomach.

- Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) score
- HOMA-IR = fasting glucose (mg/dL) x fasting insulin (uU/mL)/405
- Body mass index (BMI)
- BMI = weight (kg)/height² (m²)

Metabolic Syndrome Criteria

Metabolic syndrome diagnostic criteria were based on that of the International Diabetes Foundation (IDF)-2005: Abdominal obesity (Waist circumference: \geq 94 cm in men, \geq 80 cm in women) with at least two of the following:

- Triglyceride ≥150 mg/dL,
- HDL: <40 mg/dL in men, <50 mg/dL in women,
- Blood pressure ≥130/85 mmHg,
- Fasting blood glucose ≥100 mg/dL, or Type 2 DM.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analyses were performed with the SPSS program (version 20, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). The descriptive statistics were presented as mean and standard deviation, median and minimum-maximum, or frequency and percentages). The normal distribution of numerical data was checked with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, Shapiro-Wilk test, and graphical evaluations. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for multiple-group comparisons for data with normal distribution; the Bonferroni test was used for two-group comparisons. Kruskal-Wallis test was used for multiple-group comparisons for data without normal distribution; Bonferroni Dunntest test was used for two-group comparisons. Pearson Chi-Square test and Fisher-Freeman-Halton Exact test were also used for comparisons. The significance level was set at p<0.05 for all analyses.

RESULTS

The study included a total of 632 patients: 326 males (51.6%) and 306 females (48.4%). Average age was 43.97 \pm 12.87 years (range 21 - 65 years). Of the patients, 9.2% (n=58) were illiterate, 34.7% (n=219) were elementary school graduates, 39.2% (n=248) were high school graduates, and 16.9% (n=107) were college graduates (Table 1).

The mean BMI was 28.02 ± 4.98 kg/m² (range 18.8-39.9 kg/m²). Of the patients, 31.3% (n=198) were of normal weight, 35.5% (n = 224) were of overweight, and 33.2% (n = 210) were obese. Of the patients, 24.7% (n=156) had hypertension, 15.0% (n=95) had diabetes, and 39.1% (n=247) had metabolic syndrome. The result of the 13C-urea test for *Hp* infection was positive in 45.4% (n=287) of the patients (Table 2).

When the patients were grouped by their age, gender, marital status, or history of smoking, no significant differences were found among the groups regarding their BMIs (P>.05). When the patients were grouped according to their educational status, a significant difference was found among the groups in terms of their BMIs (P=.001).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics

		n (%)
Age (years)	Min-Max (Median)	21-65 (44)
	Mean±SD	43.97±12.87
	< 30	109 (17.2)
	30- 39	165 (26.1)
	40- 49	124 (19.6)
	50- 59	134 (21.2)
	≥ 60	100 (15.8)
Gender	Male	326 (51.6)
	Female	306 (48.4)
Education	Illiterate	58 (9.2)
	Elementary	219 (34.7)
	High school	248 (39.2)
	College	107 (16.9)
Marital status	Single	139 (22.0)
	Married	442 (69.9)
	Widowed	51 (8.1)
Smoking	No	376 (59.5)
	Yes	256 (40.5)

SD: standard deviation

Table 2. Anthropometric measurements and chronic diseases

		n (%)
BMI (kg/m²)	Min-Max (Median)	18.8-39.9 (27.2)
	Mean±SD	28.02±4.98
	Normal weight	198 (31.3)
	Overweight	224 (35.5)
	Obese	210 (33.2)
Waist	Min-Max (Median)	69-128 (97)
circumference (cm)	Mean±SD	95.84±8.93
Hypertension	No	476 (75.3)
	Yes	156 (24.7)
Diabetes mellitus	No	537 (85.0)
	Yes	95 (15.0)
Metabolic	No	385 (60.9)
syndrome	Yes	247 (39.1)
Helicobacter pylori	No	345 (54.6)
	Yes	287 (45.4)
Systolic pressure	Min-Max (Median)	103-178 (124)
(mmHg)	Mean±SD	125,12±8.21
Diastolic pressure	Min-Max (Median)	52-120 (83)
(mmHg)	Mean±SD	82.95±5.51

BMI: body-mass index, SD: standard deviation

The patients who were illiterate or elementary school graduates were more likely to be of overweight and obese (Table 3). Significant differences were found among the frequencies of hypertension in different BMI groups (P=.001). In two-groups comparisons, the frequency of hypertension in obese patients was higher than those in the normal or overweighted patients.

Table 3. Comparison of demographic characteristics of BMI groups

			BMI		
		Normal weight	Overweight	Obese	
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	р
Age (years)	Min-Max (Median)	21-65 (44.5)	21-65 (43)	21-65 (44)	a 0.385
	Mean±SD	44.69±13.08	43.04±12.65	44.29±12.91	
	< 30	33 (30.3)	41 (37.6)	35 (32.1)	
	30- 39	50 (30.3)	60 (36.4)	55 (33.3)	
	40- 49	37 (29.8)	46 (37.1)	41 (33.1)	
	50- 59	42 (31.3)	48 (35.8)	44 (32.8)	
	≥ 60	36 (36.0)	29 (29.0)	35 (35.0)	
Gender	Male	103 (31,6)	116 (35,6)	107 (32,8)	b 0.974
	Female	95 (31.0)	108 (35.3)	103 (33.7)	
Education	Illiterate	8 (13.8)	25 (43.1)	25 (43.1)	b 0.001**
	Elementary	46 (21.0)	80 (36.5)	93 (42.5)	
	High school	97 (39.1)	78 (31.5)	73 (29.4)	
	College	47 (43.9)	41 (38.3)	19 (17.8)	
Marital	Single	51 (36.7)	51 (36.7)	37 (26.6)	b 0.283
status	Married	134 (30.3)	152 (34.4)	156 (35.3)	
	Widowed	13 (25.5)	21 (41.2)	17 (33.3)	
Smoking	No	113 (30.1)	142 (37.8)	121 (32.2)	b 0.333
	Yes	85 (33.2)	82 (32.0)	89 (34.8)	

BMI: body-mass index, SD: standard deviation Oneway ANOVA Test Pearson Ki-kare Test **p<0.01

Table 4. Comparison of anthropometric measurements and chronic diseases of BMI groups

			BMI		
		Normal weight	Overweight	Obese	
		(n=198)	(n=224)	(n=210)	
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	р
Waist	Min-Max	69-102 (91)	82-109 (98)	88-128 (102)	a 0.001**
circumerence (cm)	Mean±SD	87.49±8.37	97.16±4.98	102.30±6.22	
Hypertension	No	166 (83.8)	179 (79.9)	131 (62.4)	b 0.001**
	Yes	32 (16.2)	45 (20.1)	79 (37.6)	
Diabetes	No	186 (93.9)	197 (87.9)	154 (73.3)	b 0.001**
memtus	Yes	12 (6.1)	27 (12.1)	56 (26.7)	
Metabolic	No	163 (82.3)	134 (59.8)	88 (41.9)	b 0.001**
syndrome	Yes	35 (17.7)	90 (40.2)	122 (58.1)	
Helicobacter	No	132 (66.7)	124 (55.4)	89 (42.4)	b 0.001**
pylon	Yes	66 (33,3)	100 (44,6)	121 (57,6)	
Systolic Pressure (mmHg)	Min-Max (Median)	103-137 (121)	110-145 (124)	109-178 (128)	a 0.001**
	Mean±SD	121.81±7.74	124.62±7.02	128.77±8.39	
Diastolic Prossure (mmHg)	Min-Max (Median)	70-98 (81)	52-96 (82)	71-120 (85)	a 0.001**
riessure (iiiming)	Mean±SD	81.54±5.53	82.90±5.54	84.35±5.12	

BMI: body-mass index, SD: standard deviation ^aOneway ANOVA Test ^bPearson Ki-kare Test **p<0.01

Significant differences were also found among the frequencies of diabetes in different BMI groups (P=.001). In two-groups comparisons, the frequency of diabetes in the obese patients was higher than those in the normal or over-weighted patients. The frequency in over-weighted patients was higher than that in the patients

with normal weight. Significant differences were found among the frequencies of Hp infection in different BMI groups (P=.001). In two-groups comparisons, the frequency of Hp infection in the obese patients was higher than those in the normal or over-weighted patients.

The frequency in overweight patients was higher than that in the patients with normal weight. The systolic blood pressures of the obese patients were higher than those of normal and over-weighted patients (P=.001; P=.001, respectively). The diastolic blood pressures of the obese patients were higher than the normal and overweighted patients (P=.001; P=.016, respectively) (Table 4). Significant differences were also found among the vitamin D levels of the groups by BMI (P=.001). The vitamin D level of the obese group was significantly lower than those of the overweight and normal-weight groups (P=.001, P=.001, respectively). The vitamin D level of the overweight group was significantly lower than that in the normal-weight group (P=.001). Significant differences

Table 5. Comparison of laboratory test results of BMI groups

were found among the HOMA-IR scores of the groups by BMI (P=.001) (Table 5). A significant relationship was found between the BMIs and vitamin D levels of patients who had HP infection (P=.001). The rate of patients with a vitamin D level below 10 nmol/L in the obese group was higher than those in the normal and overweight groups. The rate of patients with a vitamin D level of 10-20 nmol/L in the overweight group was higher than those in the normal-weight or obese groups. The rate of patients with a vitamin D level of 21-30 nmol/L in the normal and overweight groups were higher than that in the obese group. Moreover, the rate of patients with a vitamin D level of 21-30 nmol/L in the normal group was higher than that in the overweight group (Table 6).

· ·		BMI			
		Normal weight (n=198)	Overweight (n=224)	Obese (n=210)	Р
LDL(mg/dL)	Min-Max (Median)	58-184 (116)	56-189 (125.5)	63-232 (127.5)	^a .001**
	Mean±SD	116.64±21.84	123.01±27.32	130.88±30.92	
HDL(mg/dL)	Min-Max (Median)	22-95.5 (46.8)	24.9-84.3 (45,9)	21.3-100.9 (42.3)	^a .001**
	Mean±SD	47.80±9.95	44.96±9.60	44.08±11.68	
Triglyceride(mg/dL)	Min-Max (Median)	52-369 (126)	46-556 (146)	45-1044 (163)	°.001**
	Mean±SD	130.22±45.16	159.79±74.20	192.00±122.10	
Total	Min-Max (Median)	106-219 (184)	96-306 (195)	97-334 (201.5)	^a .001**
Cholesterol(mg/dL	Mean±SD	177,34±25.51	192,20±36.70	203.50±40.15	
ALT(U/L)	Min-Max (Median)	4-42 (12)	5.1-65 (15)	6-140 (18)	°.001**
	Mean±SD	14.49±6.13	17.38±8.94	22.93±17.08	
AST(U/L)	Min-Max (Median)	5-42 (16)	6-56 (16)	8-72 (17.5)	°.002**
	Mean±SD	16.99±6.93	18.82±8.27	19.81±9.38	
Uric acid (mg/dL)	Min-Max (Median)	1.3-7 (4,2)	2-18 (4.4)	2.3-13 (5.7)	^a .001**
	Mean±SD	4.24±1.09	4.55±1.59	5.78±1.62	
Albumin(g/dL)	Min-Max (Median)	2.1-4.7 (4.1)	2.9-5 (4.1)	3.2-5.2 (4,3)	°.001**
	Mean±SD	4.07±0.25	4.09±0.25	4.32±0.34	
CRP(mg/dL)	Min-Max (Median)	0.1-9.1 (1.7)	0.1-18 (2.2)	0.3-20.1 (2.8)	°.001**
	Mean±SD	1,77±1,55	2,41±2,45	3,14±3,29	
Vitamin D(nmol/L)	Min-Max (Median)	10-38 (21.2)	6.8-36.5 (18.6)	4.6-34.9 (14.9)	^a .001**
	Mean±SD	21.09±5,58	18.77±5.67	15.45±6.44	
Fasting glucose	Min-Max (Median)	70-104 (78)	70-185 (78)	71-325 (84)	°.001**
(mg/dL)	Mean±SD	81.14±8.73	82.45±12.79	92.39±26.91	
Postprandial glucose	Min-Max (Median)	106-202 (124)	81-269 (129)	86-540 (138)	°.001**
(mg/dL)	Mean±SD	129.39±20.78	139.07±27.42	160.52±52.26	
HOMA-IR	Min-Max (Median)	0.2-9 (1.9)	1.3-16.1 (4.2)	2.9-33.7 (6.9)	°.001**
	Mean±SD	2.39±1.43	4.46±1.73	7.57±3.59	
HbA1c(%)	Min-Max (Median)	4.8-7.2 (5.2)	4.8-8.1 (5.4)	4.6-11.4 (5.6)	°.001**
	Mean±SD	5.33±0,42	5.58±0,50	5.98±1,07	

BMI: body-mass index, SD: standard deviation,LDL:low-density lipoprotein,HDL:high-density lipoprotein, ALT: alanine aminotransferase, AST: aspartate aminotransferase, CRP:Creactiveprotein,HOMA-IR:Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance,HbA1c:glycated hemoglobin. ^aOneway ANOVA Test, ^cKruskal Wallis Test ***P*<.01

Table 6. The relationship between BMI and vitamin D levels in individuals with or without Helicobacter pylori infection

		BMI			
		Normal weight	Overweight	Obese	
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	Р
Helicobacterpylori (-)	n=345]	132	124	89	
Vitamin D level	< 10 nmol/L	0 (0)	6 (4,8)	5 (5,6)	.001**
	10-20 nmol/L	59 (44,7)	64 (51,6)	51 (57,3)	
	21-30 nmol/L	67 (50,8)	51 (41,1)	25 (28,1)	
	>30 nmol/L	6 (4,5)	3 (2,4)	8 (9,0)	
Helicobacterpylori (+)	[n=287]	66	100	121	
VitaminD level	< 10 nmol/L	1 (1,5)	8 (8,0)	45 (37,2)	.001**
	10-20 nmol/L	37 (56,1)	74 (74,0)	71 (58,7)	
	21-30 nmol/L	27 (40,9)	18 (18,0)	5 (4,1)	
	>30 nmol/L	1 (1,5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	

BMI: body-mass index Fisher-Freeman-Halton Exact test **P<0.01

DISCUSSION

Obesity is a very complex condition that causes many pathological changes, leading to endocrine, metabolic, and cardiovascular diseases and cancer.²¹ With the increasing prevalence of obesity, its relationship with other diseases has become an important health concern. Several recent studies have indicated a relationship between the Hp infection, insulin resistance, and obesity.^{15,22-24} In our study, we investigated whether Hp infection and vitamin D deficiency were more common in obese people compared to those with normal weight. In our study, the average age was 43.97 ± 12.87 years; the study was similar to other studies in the literature in terms of the age distribution.^{25,26} No significant differences were found between the two genders. In the study by Li-Wei Chen et al.²⁷, there was a higher number of obese female patients. We found that obesity decreased as the level of education increased. Cynthia L. et al.²⁸ found that obesity was less common among university graduates in the United States. Obesity was also less common among university graduates in our study. We think that socioeconomic factors contribute to this result. In a meta-analysis that mostly involved European countries, Lender N et al.²⁹ found a negative correlation between obesity and *Hp* seropositivity. In a retrospective study involving 3,039 people in China. Mei-Yan Xu et al.³⁰ found that although the Hpseropositivity was more frequent (54.6%) in the obese group, the difference was not statistically significant. In our study, the rate of Hp seropositivity was 57.6% in the obese group, which was significantly higher than that in the other groups. In a study of 214 patients in Turkey, Aslan et al.³¹ found an *Hp* seropositivity rate of 57.2% among obese individuals, which was significantly higher than that in the non-obese group. In a study involving 2,050 people in China, Yan Zhang et al.³² found that the rate of *Hp* seropositivity was significantly higher among obese people. In a cohort study of 235,107 people, Suki et al.³³ found a higher rate of *Hp* seropositivity. Al-Zubaidi et al.³⁴ found that *Hp* infection was observed more frequently in the gastroscopic biopsies from obese patients. We think that the differences among the studies may be due to the differences in the socioeconomic, genetic, and environmental factors.

We found a mean vitamin D level of 15.45 ± 6.44 nmol/L in the obese group, which was significantly lower than those in the normal and overweight groups. In a study investigating the results of vitamin D supplementation in 16,540 people with vitamin D

deficiency, Saliba et al.³⁵ found that the response to the supplementation therapy was lower in the obese group compared to that in the normal-weight group. We think that the lower vitamin D levels in the obese group in our study might be due to their sedentary lifestyle and excessive immobility. The higher HOMA-IR scores and CRP values in the obese group also indicated that insulin resistance and chronic inflammation might have decreased the vitamin D levels in obese individuals.

There is limited data that is showing the relationship between vitamin D and helicobacter pylori. It is confirmed that vitamin D regulates the expression of antimicrobial peptides cathelicidin and β -defensin.³⁶ The peptide β -defensin, which secreted from the gastric mucosal surface constitutes a defence against after Hp infection. In a vitamin D deficiency situation, macrophages cannot perform the synthesis of vitamin D necessary for the production of cathelicidin and βdefensin unable to be effective against Hp.37 In our study, the average vitamin D levels were 15.79 ± 5.61 ng/mL in the Hp-positive group and 20.56 ± 6.0 ng/mL in the Hp-negative group. The results were similar to those from a previous study, which demonstrated that the infections by H. pylori, gram-negative bacteria, and other microorganisms decreased the vitamin D levels.³⁸ In a study of 150 patients, El Shahawy et al.³⁹ demonstrated that they had increased vitamin D levels after H. pylori eradication, which supported the results of our study. Consistent with the literature, we found that insulin resistance, type-2 diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, and metabolic syndrome were more common in the obese group.^{40,41}

The limitations of this study included the fact that the study included a small number of patients, it was a retrospective study, and tissue biopsy was not performed in the diagnosis of *Hp* infection.

In conclusion, we investigated whether *Hp* infection and vitamin D deficiency were more common in obese people compared to those in people with normal or overweight. We want to emphasize that vitamin D deficiency in obese people should be more at attention, and diet treatments should be adjusted accordingly. We think that *Hp* infection is more common in people with vitamin D deficiency and that should supplied vitamin D deficiency for eradication treatment in Hp-positive individuals and study contributes to the discussion in the literature, and there is a need for prospective studies with a larger group of patients.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Clinical Resarch Ethics Committee of Erzurum Regional Training and Research Hospital (Date: January 06, 2020, Number: 2020/01-03).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept – A.F.K.; Design – A.F.K.; Materials – A.F.K., M.B., K.Ç.; Data Collection and/or Processing – A.F.K., M.B., K.Ç.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – A.F.K., M.B., K.Ç.; Literature Search – A.F.K., M.B., K.Ç.; Writing Manuscript – A.F.K., M.B., K.Ç.; Critical Review – A.F.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Grethen E, McClintock R, Gupta CE, et al. Vitamin D and hyperparathyroidism in obesity. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2011;96(5):1320-1326. [CrossRef]
- Wu M-S, Lee W-J, Wang H-H, Huang S-P, Lin J-T. A case-control study of association of Helicobacter pylori infection with morbid obesity in Taiwan. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 2005;165(13):1552-1555. [CrossRef]
- DiBaise JK, Zhang H, Crowell MD, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Decker GA, Rittmann BE. Gut microbiota and its possible relationship with obesity. Elsevier; 2008:460-469. [CrossRef]
- Cho I, Blaser MJ, François F, et al. Helicobacter pylori and overweight status in the United States: data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 2005;162(6):579-584. [CrossRef]
- Kamada T, Sugiu K, Haruma K. Development of obesity and hyperlipidemia after eradication of Helicobacter pylori. *Nihon rinsho Japanese Journal of Clinical Medicine*. 2005;63:536-538.
- Sayılar EI, Çelik B, Dumlu Ş. Relationship between Helicobacter pylori infection and metabolic syndrome. *Turk J Gastroenterol*. 2015;26(6):468-473. [CrossRef]
- Parsonnet J. Helicobacter pylori and gastric cancer. Gastroenterology Clinics of North America. 1993;22(1):89-104. [CrossRef]
- Larussa T, Leone I, Suraci E, Imeneo M, Luzza F. Helicobacter pylori and T helper cells: mechanisms of immune escape and tolerance. *Journal of Immunology Research*. 2015;2015 [CrossRef]
- Shalaby SA, Handoka NM, Amin RE. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with urinary tract infection in children. Archives of Medical Science. 2018;14(1):115-121. [CrossRef]
- 10. Wang H, Chen W, Li D, et al. Vitamin D and chronic diseases. *Aging and Disease*. 2017;8(3):346. [CrossRef]
- Coussens AK, Martineau AR, Wilkinson RJ. Anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial actions of vitamin D in combating TB/HIV. *Scientifica*. 2014;2014 [CrossRef]
- Martins DdJ, Matos GC, Loiola RS, D'Annibale V, Corvelo T. Relationship of vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms in Helicobacter pylori gastric patients. *Clinical and Experimental Gastroenterology*. 2018:19-27. [CrossRef]
- 13. Lim SH, Kim N, Kwon JW, et al. Positive association between Helicobacter pylori infection and metabolic syndrome in a Korean population: a multicenter nationwide study. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*. 2019;64:2219-2230. [CrossRef]
- 14. Shin DW, Kwon HT, Kang JM, et al. Association between

metabolic syndrome and Helicobacter pylori infection diagnosed by histologic status and serological status. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*. 2012;46(10):840-845. [CrossRef]

- Chen L-W, Chien C-Y, Hsieh C-W, et al. The associations between Helicobacter pylori infection, serum vitamin D, and metabolic syndrome: a community-based study. *Medicine*. 2016;95(18):e3616. [CrossRef]
- Abbas MA. Physiological functions of Vitamin D in adipose tissue. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*. 2017;165:369-381. [CrossRef]
- 17. Wimalawansa SJ. Associations of vitamin D with insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes, and metabolic syndrome. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*. 2018;175:177-189. [CrossRef]
- 18. Garbossa SG, Folli F. Vitamin D, sub-inflammation and insulin resistance. A window on a potential role for the interaction between bone and glucose metabolism. *Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders*. 2017;18(2):243-258. [CrossRef]
- 19. Peterson CA, Tosh AK, Belenchia AM. Vitamin D insufficiency and insulin resistance in obese adolescents. *Therapeutic Advances in Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2014;5(6):166-189. [CrossRef]
- Ju SY, Jeong HS, Kim DH. Blood vitamin D status and metabolic syndrome in the general adult population: a dose-response metaanalysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(3):1053-1063. [CrossRef]
- An J, Yoon SR, Lee JH, Kim H, Kim OY. Importance of adherence to personalized diet intervention in obesity related metabolic improvement in overweight and obese Korean adults. *Clinical Nutrition Research*. 2019;8(3):171. [CrossRef]
- 22. Kumari M, Kozyrskyj A. Gut microbial metabolism defines host metabolism: an emerging perspective in obesity and allergic inflammation. *Obesity Reviews*. 2017;18(1):18-31. [CrossRef]
- 23. Xu X, Li W, Qin L, Yang W, Yu G, Wei Q. Relationship between Helicobacter pylori infection and obesity in Chinese adults: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *PloS one*. 2019;14(9):e0221076. [CrossRef]
- 24. Tang DM, Kumar S. The association between Helicobacter pylori infection and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Current Gastroenterology Reports*. 2017;19:1-5. [CrossRef]
- 25. Xu C, Yan M, Sun Y, et al. Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection and its relation with body mass index in a Chinese population. *Helicobacter*. 2014;19(6):437-442. [CrossRef]
- 26. Wan Z, Hu L, Hu M, Lei X, Huang Y, Lv Y. Helicobacter pylori infection and prevalence of high blood pressure among Chinese adults. *Journal of Human Hypertension*. 2018;32(2):158-164. [CrossRef]
- 27. Chen L-W, Kuo S-F, Chen C-H, Chien C-H, Lin C-L, Chien R-N. A community-based study on the association between Helicobacter pylori Infection and obesity. *Scientific Reports*. 2018;8(1):10746. [CrossRef]
- Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among youths by household income and education level of head of household—United States 2011–2014. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2018;67. [CrossRef]
- 29. Lender N, Talley N, Enck P, et al. associations between H elicobacter pylori and obesity-an ecological study. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. 2014;40(1):24-31. [CrossRef]
- Xu M-Y, Liu L, Yuan B-S, Yin J, Lu Q-B. Association of obesity with Helicobacter pylori infection: a retrospective study. *World Journal* of Gastroenterology. 2017;23(15):2750. [CrossRef]
- 31. Arslan E, Atılgan H, Yavaşoğlu İ. The prevalence of Helicobacter pylori in obese subjects. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*. 2009;20(7):695-697. [CrossRef]

- Zhang Y, Du T, Chen X, Yu X, Tu L, Zhang C. Association between Helicobacter pylori infection and overweight or obesity in a Chinese population. *The Journal of Infection in Developing Countries*. 2015;9(09):945-953. [CrossRef]
- Suki M, Weissman YL, Boltin D, et al. Helicobacter pylori infection is positively associated with an increased BMI, irrespective of socioeconomic status and other confounders: a cohort study. *European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*. 2018;30(2):143-148. [CrossRef]
- Al-Zubaidi AM, Alzobydi AH, Alsareii SA, Al-Shahrani A, Alzaman N, Kassim S. Body mass index and Helicobacter pylori among obese and non-obese patients in Najran, Saudi Arabia: a casecontrol study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2018;15(11):2586.
- Saliba W, Barnett-Griness O, Rennert G. The relationship between obesity and the increase in serum 25 (OH) D levels in response to vitamin D supplementation. Osteoporosis International. 2013;24:1447-1454. [CrossRef]
- Wang T-T, Nestel FP, Bourdeau V, et al. Cutting edge: 1, 25dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a direct inducer of antimicrobial peptide gene expression. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2004;173(5):2909-2912. [CrossRef]
- Neshani A, Zare H, Akbari Eidgahi MR, Hooshyar Chichaklu A, Movaqar A, Ghazvini K. Review of antimicrobial peptides with anti-Helicobacter pylori activity. *Helicobacter*. 2019;24(1):e12555. [CrossRef]
- Ramanathan B, Davis EG, Ross CR, Blecha F. Cathelicidins: microbicidal activity, mechanisms of action, and roles in innate immunity. *Microbes and Infection*. 2002;4(3):361-372. [CrossRef]
- El Shahawy MS, Hemida MH, El Metwaly I, Shady ZM. The effect of vitamin D deficiency on eradication rates of Helicobacter pylori infection. *JGH Open*. 2018;2(6):270-275. [CrossRef]
- Saltiel AR, Olefsky JM. Inflammatory mechanisms linking obesity and metabolic disease. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2017;127(1):1-4. [CrossRef]
- 41. Hall ME, Wang Z, do Carmo J, Kamimura D, Hall JE. Obesity and metabolic syndrome hypertension. *Disorders of Blood Pressure Regulation: Phenotypes, Mechanisms, Therapeutic Options*. 2018:705-722. [CrossRef]



Lale DUYSAK Sedanur KASIMOĞULLARI Nurcan KILIÇ BAYGUTALP Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy, Atatürk University, Erzurum, Turkey



Received	
Accepted	
Publication Date	

11.01.2024 23.04.2024

06.12.2023

Corresponding author: Nurcan KILIÇ BAYGUTALP

E-mail: n.baygutalp@atauni.edu.tr Cite this article: Duysak L, Kasımoğulları S, Baygutalp NK. Determination of Total Phenolic Contents and Antioxidant Activities of Different Extracts. Pharmata. 2024;4(2):39-45



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 4.0 International License.

Research Art

Determination of Total Phenolic Contents and Antioxidant Activities of Different Extracts Obtained from *Morus alba L*. (White Mulberry) Leaf

ABSTRACT

Objective: The plant known as white mulberry, or *Morus alba L.*, has several uses and is employed in traditional medicine in many different cultures. The objectives of this study are to determine the total phenolic component and antioxidant levels of the methanol and ethanol extracts of leaves of *Morus alba L*. (White mulberry).

Methods: Using the techniques of DPPH (1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl), FRAP (Iron ion that decreases antioxidant power), and CUPRAC (Copper ion that reduces antioxidant capacity), the antioxidant activities of methanol and ethanol extracts of *Morus alba L*. leaves were examined. Additionally, the Folin-Ciocalteu Reagent (FCR) technique was used to evaluate the total phenolic content of the ethanol and methanol extracts. To determine the antioxidant capacity of extracts, reference samples were used to prepare various concentrations ranging from 1 to 100 μ g/mL. The extract's equivalent antioxidant capacity was determined using sample concentrations of 125, 250, and 500 μ g/mL.

Results: The methanol and ethanol extracts of the leaves of the *Morus alba L*. (White mulberry) plant were found to have the greatest level of phenolic compounds at the 500 μ g/mL concentration of extracts. It was determined that the Trolox Eq value of methanol extract was higher in the DPPH, FRAP and FCR methods, and the Trolox Eq value of the ethanol extract was higher in the CUPRAC method.

Conclusion: The possible folk medicinal application of *Morus alba L*. is supported by this study. Determining the precise mechanisms of action of the extracts, the best extraction technique, the ideal dosage, and any possible adverse effects is needed.

Keywords: CUPRAC, DPPH, ethanol extract, FRAP, methanol extract, Morus alba L.

INTRODUCTION

The most significant compounds that aid in inhibiting the oxidation process are antioxidants. Endogenous antioxidant defense mechanisms struggle to destroy or diminish free radicals which are produced by metabolism, xenobiotics, or toxins. Many natural nutrients particularly fruits and vegetables are rich in antioxidants and can be considered exogenous antioxidants.¹⁻³

Plants with antimutagenic and anticarcinogenic properties, rich in antioxidants and sources of physiologically active compounds, have gained popularity in recent years.⁴ Numerous studies have examined pigments found in fruits and vegetables to determine whether they could improve human health or reduce the risks of diseases.⁵ As a result, much research on plants has led to the creation of natural antioxidant formulations for use in food and cosmetics.

Morus alba L. (White mulberry), which belongs to the Morus genus of the Moraceae family, is a plant used in traditional medicine in many societies and has a wide range of uses. Various parts of the plant, such as leaves, fruits and seeds, are pharmacologically valuable. *Morus alba L*. contains a wide range of nutrients, including phenolic acids, flavonoids, flavonols, anthocyanins, macronutrients, vitamins, minerals and volatile aromatic compounds. It has some phytochemicals that have a wide range of pharmacological effects.⁶

Morus alba L. folium contains neutral sugars such as arabinose, galactose, glucose, rhamnose, xvlose. mannose, as well as large amounts of uronic acid in the form of galacturonic acid and glucuronic acid.⁷⁻¹⁰ The most abundant amino acid in Morus alba L. leaf is glutamate, accounting for approximately 20%, followed by glycine and aspartate.¹¹ Chinese medicine has historically utilized mulberry leaves to treat fevers, strengthen joints, guard the liver, enhance vision, and regulate the maturation of endritic cells. The leaves have used anti-obesity, also been in anti-diabetic, antibacterial, and antioxidant treatments.¹²⁻²¹ The aim of this study is to determine the antioxidant activities and total phenolic compounds of ethanol and methanol extracts of Morus alba L. leaves.

METHODS

Plant Material

The leaves of *Morus alba L*. were collected in August 2022 from the Uzundere district in the province of Erzurum, and they were dried according to the recommended methods (at room temperature, in a dry environment, away from sunlight). The plant was dried and then ground into a powder with a porcelain mortar and liquid nitrogen. Before the experiment started, the powdered mulberry leaves were kept in the proper storage.

Preparation of Plant Extracts

The *Morus alba L.* plant's leaves were dried and then pulverized into a powder in a mortar with the use of liquid nitrogen. The leaves of *Morus alba L.* were extracted using ethanol and methanol in a shaking water bath at 50°C for 72 hours. The filtrate was then filtered every 24 hours, condensed in an evaporator, and kept in a refrigerator at $+4^{\circ}$ C until analysis day.

Determination of total phenolic content

A modified version of Slinkard and Singleton's method was used to evaluate the total phenolic compounds present in the ethanol and methanol extracts of *Morus alba L.*²² The method was described in brief as follows: First, 50 milliliters of 7.5% Na₂CO₃ was prepared. Following 25 mg of gallic acid from the standard, methanol was added to a test tube until it reached 25 mL. Finally, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was used to determine phenolic compounds. The necessary dilutions were created and stock solutions were made ready.

First, 200 μ L Folin & Ciocalteu reagent and 40 μ L sample were added to the plates and incubated for 5 minutes. Finally, 160 μ L Na₂CO₃ was added and incubated for another 30 minutes. After incubation absorbance was measured at 765 nm. Data were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent (GAE)/g using the standard graph with gallic acid.

Determination of Antioxidant Capacity

DPPH Radical Scavenging Capacity Assay

The Brand Williams method was utilized to determine the DPPH radical scavenging capabilities of ethanol and methanol extracts derived from Morus alba L.²³ Antioxidant capacity is determined by spectrophotometrically measuring the inhibitory response of materials to DPPH radical. In the presence of an antioxidant, the DPPH solution loses color during the reduction reaction; this reduction in color intensity facilitates measurement in the spectrophotometer. Following the DPPH solution's preparation, 210 µL of the extract sample was pipetted into each plate well, and 70 μL of the DPPH solution was then added. After one minute of stirring the plate, it was left in the dark for thirty minutes. The standard antioxidant for the control sample was trolox. The absorbance was then measured at 517 nm, and the percent inhibition was computed based on the data.

The ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay

Huang et al. used the electron transfer method to determine the antioxidant capacity of extracts made from *Morus alba* L.²⁴ First, an acetate buffer with a pH of 3.6 (300 mmol/L) was made. A 100 mL-flask was filled with 10 mM TPTZ, 40 mM HCl, and more HCl to bring the total content to 100 mL. Lastly, a FeCl₃ solution containing 20 mmol/L was made. From these prepared solutions, 2.5 mL of TPTZ, 2.5 mL of FeCl₃, and 25 mL of acetate buffer were taken to make a total of 30 mL of FRAP solution. Following a 30-minute incubation period, 200 µL of FRAP solution and 10 µL of the extract sample were pipetted into the plate wells. The absorbance was then measured.

Cupric ions (Cu²⁺) reducing-CUPRAC assay

According to Apak et al., this approach is based on the complex's absorbance at 450 nm wavelength and its conversion from Cu(II) Neocuproin complex to Cu(I) Neocuproin via antioxidant chemicals found in the environment.²⁵ CuCl₂•2H₂O, weighing 0.4262 g, was dissolved in 250 mL of distilled water to prepare the CUPRAC reagent. (10 milligrams). NH₄Ac (19.27 g) was dissolved in 250 mL of water to create the acetate buffer. In a 25 mL flask, 0.039 g of the Neocuproin chemical was prepared with 96% pure ethanol to yield a 7.5 mM

neocuproin solution. Afterwards, solutions consisting of 60 μ L CuCl₂, 60 μ L acetate buffer, 60 μ L neocuproin solution and 66 μ L extracts were mixed and after 30 minutes of incubation, absorbances were measured at 450 nm wavelength. The standard antioxidant Trolox was used as a control sample. Calibration curves of the working range of 1-100 μ g/mL, where the plot of absorbance versus concentration is linear, were derived.

RESULTS

Results of Total Phenolic Compound Quantification

Total phenolic compound amounts of ethanol and methanol extracts prepared from *Morus alba L*. were determined by Folin-Ciocalteu Reagent (FCR). Gallic acid was used as the standard phenolic compound and was calculated as gallic acid equivalent from the equations obtained from the calibration curves of gallic acid. (Figure



Figure 1. Calibration curves of gallic acid in different solvents (a. Methanol b. Ethanol)



Figure 2. Comparison of total phenolic compound amounts of *Morus alba L*. extracts

The total phenolic content of ethanol and methanol extracts made from the fruit of *Morus alba L*. at different concentrations was measured. Consequently, the concentration of 500 μ g/mL was shown to have the maximum total phenolic content.

Antioxidant Capacity Activity Results of DPPH radical scavenging activity

DPPH radical scavenging activities of standard antioxidant compounds of ethanol and methanol extracts prepared from *Morus alba L*. were determined according to the Brand Williams method 23. The analyzed concentration range (1-100 μ g/mL) was determined as a result of studies on standard antioxidant compounds.(Figure 3)



Figure 3. Concentration-% Inhibition graph of Trolox (a.Methanol b. Ethanol)

The DPPH radical scavenging capacities of methanol and ethanol extracts of *Morus alba L*. leaves in the range of (125-500 μ g/mL) are shown in Figure 4 as % inhibition.



Figure 4. Comparison of DPPH free radical scavenging capacities of extracts at different concentrations

Morus alba L. fruit methanol extract showed the highest DPPH free radical scavenging effect at 500 μ g/mL

Results of the copper ion reducing antioxidant capacity determination method (CUPRAC)

The conversion of ethanol and methanol extracts prepared from *Morus alba L*. and standard antioxidant compounds of Cu(II) neocuproin complex at 450 nm to Cu(I) neocuproin by means of compounds with antioxidant effect in the medium was done by measuring the absorbance at 450 nm. The concentration range to be analyzed (1-100 μ g/mL) was determined as a result of studies on standard antioxidant compounds. (Figure 5)





Figure 5. Trolox standard graph (a. Methanol b. Ethanol)

Figure 6. Comparison of the conversion of the extracts from Cu (II)

neocuproin complex to Cu (I) neocuproin at different concentrations in terms of $\mu g \, \text{TEAC}$

Results of iron ion reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) Spectrophotometric measurements of iron (III) reduction/antioxidant equivalent absorbances of *Morus alba L.* leaves, ethanol, methanol extract and standard antioxidant compounds were made at 593 nm. The antioxidant power capacity of trolox, one of the standard antioxidant compounds, was studied in ethanol and methanol extract at concentrations between 1 and 100 μ g/mL. (Figure 7)



Figure 7. Trolox standard graph (a.Methanol b. Ethanol)

Comparison of the iron (III) reduction/antioxidant powers of *Morus alba L*. ethanol and methanol extracts in terms of μ g/mL Trolox equivalent Antioxidant Capacity (TEAC) using the spectrophotometric method at 593 nm is given in Figure 8.





concentration.

It was determined that the ethanol and methanol extracts prepared from *Morus alba L*. had iron ion-reducing antioxidant power capacity, the concentration of 500 μ g/mL was high in both extracts and the results were close to each other.

DISCUSSION

The activities of antioxidant compounds arise from basic antioxidative properties such as preventing radical chain reactions, chelating metal ions, preventing peroxide formation, radical scavenging or reducing power. In this study, which we conducted with the ethanol and methanol extracts of *Morus alba L.*(mulberry) leaves within the framework of the study on antioxidant activity, the total antioxidant capacity was determined separately at different concentrations using different antioxidant methods and additionally determination of the amount of total phenolic compounds.

The antioxidant activity of all the ethanol and methanol extracts made from Morus alba L. leaves was assessed in this study. The ethanol extract was shown to have high levels of copper ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) and total phenolic compounds. In terms of DPPH radical scavenging activity and ferric ion-reducing antioxidant power (FRAP), the methanol extract showed significant antioxidant activity. We believe that the compounds found in the leaves of Morus alba L. are responsible for this property. It is believed that differences in the concentrations and molecular composition of the polyphenolic chemicals transferred to the solvent of choice account for the different variations in antioxidant activity seen in the extracts. Mulberry is a plant traditionally used among the public for various diseases. The wide range of biological activities exhibited by plants is due to the components they contain, and the phytochemical composition and biological potential of the plant varies depending on the region where it grows.²⁶ White mulberry leaves contain many components such as flavones, steroids, triterpenes, amino acids, vitamins and minerals. As a result of the antidiabetic activity studies conducted on the plant, it was determined that the leaves showed antidiabetic activity thanks to the phytosterol glycosides and scopoletin they contain.27,28

As a result of the studies, it can be remarked that the contents of mulberry leaves varies as follows: total amount of phenolic substances 24.12-39.38 mg/g, chlorogenic acid 3.10-10.05 mg/g, flavonoid substance 38.32-76.42 mg/g, rutin 0.96-3.49 mg/g, 1.17-6.91 mg/g of alkaloids, deoxynojirimycin 0.40–5.31 mg/g.

Additionally, 153.1-309.1 mg/g protein, 80.1-134.2 mg/g carbohydrate, 8.1-22.7 mg/g mineral, 6.4-15.1 mg/g fat and 276.0–366.6 mg/g dietary fiber content were detected in mulberry leaves.²⁹⁻³¹ It has been determined that the compound called deoxynojirimycin found in mulberry leaves regulates the inhibition of enzymes such as glycosidase, sucrase and maltase. Thus, mulberry leaves can be used in the treatment of diabetes.^{32, 33} Mulberry fruit is a functional food rich in anthocyanins that has attracted the attention of researchers and consumers due to its potential pharmacological activities on health.^{34,35} Although there are many studies examining the pharmacological activities of mulberry leaves, ^{36,37} there are a limited number of studies on the pharmacological properties of its fruits.³⁴

In a study, mulberry powder was used as a natural sweetener in ice cream production, and a decrease in caloric value was observed.³⁸ In a clinical study, diabetic mice were fed a diet consisting of a combination of mulberry leaf flour and oat bran in a 1:1 ratio for 28 days, inhibiting α -glycosidase activity, insulin effect. It has been found to have antidiabetic effects.³¹ Considering the role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of diabetes, we can conclude that mulberry fruit may be rich source to reduce oxidative stress in diabetes. A study from Turkey was conducted to evaluate the antidiabetic and antioxidant properties of water and ethanol extracts made from the leaves of white and black mulberry trees cultivated in the province of Edirne by means of in vitro enzyme inhibition experiments. It was found that only water extracts of mulberry leaves have the power to chelate metal ions. In the antidiabetic activity study, water extracts of the leaves showed varying degrees of inhibition of α -amylase and α -glucosidase. The fact that water extracts have a potential inhibitory effect on carbohydrate digestive enzymes indicates that mulberry leaves, which are not consumed as food in our country, can be considered as a source of pharmaceutical raw materials. Again, black mulberry leaves can be brought into the economy to be used in cosmetic applications as antioxidant additives.²⁶

Turkoglu et al.³⁹ were examined the antioxidant and antiradical capacity of Morus alba collected from Elazığ. The leaves and fruits of the plant were dried in the shade and water and ethanol extracts were prepared separately. Antioxidant and antiradical tests of these extracts were performed using different antioxidant methods such as total antioxidant capacity, reducing oxidant capacity, metal chelating activity, DPPH free radical scavenging activity, ABTS + radical scavenging activity, superoxide anion radical scavenging activity, H_2O_2 scavenging activity and FRAP test. In addition, the total phenolic compound amount was determined separately at different concentrations using quantification. Considering the results obtained, it has been determined that mulberry leaves and fruits are a good free radical scavenger and can be used as a natural antioxidant.

The methanol and ethanol extracts prepared from the Morus alba L. leaves, which were examined in support of other studies, were shown to be high in antioxidant activity and phenolic content in our study. When the FCR, DPPH, FRAP, and CUPRAC results of Morus alba L. leaves extract from ethanol and methanol extracts were analyzed, the efficiency of different extracts in different ways was usually determined. In this work, antioxidant activity was determined using 125, 250, and 500 g/mL quantities of each produced extract. In the findings obtained at the end of the study, it was observed that there was a correlation in antioxidant capacity proportional to the increasing amount of each extract, depending on the amount of extract. This is due to the fact that as the amount of extract increases, the amount of active ingredients in the extracts also increases. The reason for this correlation may be many free radical scavenger groups contained in plants, such as phenolic compounds with antioxidant effects (phenolic acid, flavonoids, coumarins, etc.), nitrogenous compounds (alkaloids, amines, etc.), vitamins and terpenoids.

CONCLUSION

As a result of this study, it was found that ethanol and methanol extracts of Morus alba L. leaves have a strong antioxidant capacity in various antioxidant systems in inanimate environments. Plants can be used as an easily available source of natural antioxidants for the pharmaceutical industry and food additive industry. However, the components of the sample extract responsible for the antioxidant activities are not fully clear. In future studies, the active compounds contained in plants can be chemically analyzed using different methods and techniques and their pharmacological properties can be examined. The active compounds contained in the plant can be isolated and its antioxidant properties in living systems can be investigated. Additionally, other therapeutic properties along with its antioxidant activity can be investigated by taking into account the active substances contained in the plant.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was not required as this study was conducted in vitro.

Author Contributions: Concept –N.K.B., L.D.; Design – N.K.B., L.D; Supervision – N.K.B.; Resources – N.K.B.,; Materials – N.K.B., L.D; Data Collection and/or Processing – N.K.B., L.D., S.K.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – L.D., S.K.; Literature Search – S.K.; Writing Manuscript – L.D., N.K.B., S.K.; Critical Review – N.K.B., L.D, S.K.

 $\ensuremath{\textit{Conflict}}$ of $\ensuremath{\textit{Interest:}}$ The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Sharifi-Rad M, Anil Kumar NV, Zucca P, et al. Lifestyle, oxidative stress, and antioxidants: Back and forth in the pathophysiology of chronic diseases. *Frontiers in physiology*, 2020, 11: 694. [CrossRef]
- 2. Mititelu RR, Pădureanu R, Băcănoiu M, et al. Inflammatory and oxidative stress markers—mirror tools in rheumatoid arthritis. *Biomedicines*, 2020, 8: 125. [CrossRef]
- 3. Popović-Djordjević J, Quispe C, Giordo R, et al. Natural products and synthetic analogues against HIV: A perspective to develop new potential anti-HIV drugs. *European journal of medicinal chemistry*, 2022, 233: 114217. [CrossRef]
- 4. Chen C, Mohamad Razali UH, Saikim FH, Mahyudin A, Mohd Noor NQI. *Morus alba L*. plant: Bioactive compounds and potential as a functional food ingredient. *Foods*, 2021, 10: 689. [CrossRef]
- Hao J, Gao Y, Xue J, et al. Phytochemicals, pharmacological effects and molecular mechanisms of mulberry. *Foods*, 2022, 11: 1170. [CrossRef]
- Wen P, Hu T-G, Linhardt RJ, Liao S-T, Wu H, Zou Y-X. Mulberry: A review of bioactive compounds and advanced processing technology. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 2019, 83: 138-158. [CrossRef]
- 7. Chen C, Zhang B, Fu X, You L-J, Abbasi AM, Liu RH. The digestibility of mulberry fruit polysaccharides and its impact on lipolysis under simulated saliva, gastric and intestinal conditions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 2016, 58: 171-178. [CrossRef]
- 8. Choi JW, Synytsya A, Capek P, Bleha R, Pohl R, Park YI. Structural analysis and anti-obesity effect of a pectic polysaccharide isolated from Korean mulberry fruit Oddi (*Morus alba L.*). *Carbohydrate polymers*, 2016, 146: 187-196. [CrossRef]
- Lee JS, Synytsya A, Kim HB, et al. Purification, characterization and immunomodulating activity of a pectic polysaccharide isolated from Korean mulberry fruit Oddi (*Morus alba L.*). *International immunopharmacology*, 2013, 17: 858-866. [CrossRef]
- 10. Li E, Long X, Liao S, Pang D, Li Q, Zou Y. Effect of mulberry galacto-oligosaccharide isolated from mulberry on glucose metabolism and gut microbiota in a type 2 diabetic mice. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 2021, 87: 104836. [CrossRef]
- 11. Lee Y, Hwang KT. Changes in physicochemical properties of mulberry fruits (*Morus alba L*.) during ripening. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 2017, 217: 189-196. [CrossRef]
- He X, Fang J, Ruan Y, et al. Structures, bioactivities and future prospective of polysaccharides from Morus alba (white mulberry): A review. *Food Chemistry*, 2018, 245: 899-910. [CrossRef]
- Xue M, Sun H, Cao Y, et al. Mulberry leaf polysaccharides modulate murine bone-marrow-derived dendritic cell maturation. *Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics*, 2015, 11: 946-950. [CrossRef]

- Chang Y-C, Yang M-Y, Chen S-C, Wang C-J. Mulberry leaf polyphenol extract improves obesity by inducing adipocyte apoptosis and inhibiting preadipocyte differentiation and hepatic lipogenesis. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 2016, 21: 249-262. [CrossRef]
- Kim H-b, Lim JD, Kim A-J, Kim Y-S, Kwon O. Comparison with various mulberry leaves' and fruit's extract in lipid accumulation inhibitory effect at adipocyte model. *International Journal of Industrial Entomology*, 2017, 35: 1-6. [CrossRef]
- Li F, Zhang B, Chen G, Fu X. The novel contributors of antidiabetic potential in mulberry polyphenols revealed by UHPLC-HR-ESI-TOF-MS/MS. *Food Research International*, 2017, 100: 873-884. [CrossRef]
- Ranjan B, Kumar R, Verma N, Mittal S, Pakrasi PL, Kumar RV. Evaluation of the antidiabetic properties of S-1708 mulberry variety. *Pharmacognosy magazine*, 2017, 13: S280. [CrossRef]
- Gryn-Rynko A, Bazylak G, Olszewska-Slonina D. New potential phytotherapeutics obtained from white mulberry (*Morus alba L.*) leaves. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 2016, 84: 628-636. [CrossRef]
- Thabti I, Elfalleh W, Tlili N, Ziadi M, Campos MG, Ferchichi A. Phenols, flavonoids, and antioxidant and antibacterial activity of leaves and stem bark of Morus species. *International journal of food properties*, 2014, 17: 842-854. [CrossRef]
- Ma Q, Santhanam RK, Xue Z, Guo Q, Gao X, Chen H. Effect of different drying methods on the physicochemical properties and antioxidant activities of mulberry leaves polysaccharides. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 2018, 119: 1137-1143. [CrossRef]
- 21. Zhang D-Y, Wan Y, Hao J-Y, et al. Evaluation of the alkaloid, polyphenols, and antioxidant contents of various mulberry cultivars from different planting areas in eastern China. *Industrial crops and products*, 2018, 122: 298-307. [CrossRef]
- Slinkard K, Singleton VL. Total phenol analysis: automation and comparison with manual methods. *American Journal of Enology* and Viticulture, 1977, 28: 49-55. [CrossRef]
- 23. Brand-Williams W, Cuvelier M-E, Berset C. Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 1995, 28: 25-30. [CrossRef]
- Huang DJ, Ou BX, Prior RL. The chemistry behind antioxidant capacity assays. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 2005, 53: 1841-1856. [CrossRef]
- 25. Apak R, Guclu K, Ozyurek M, Karademir SE. Novel total antioxidant capacity index for dietary polyphenols and vitamins C and E, using their cupric ion reducing capability in the presence of neocuproine: CUPRAC method. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 2004, 52: 7970-7981. [CrossRef]
- İşbilir ŞS, Çelik E. Edirne İlinde Yetişen Dut Ağacı Yapraklarının Antioksidan ve Antidiyabetik Aktivitesi Üzerine Bir Çalışma. Journal of Advanced Research in Natural and Applied Sciences, 2021, 7: 319-332. [CrossRef]
- 27. Marles RJ, Farnsworth NR. Antidiabetic plants and their active constituents. *Phytomedicine*, 1995, 2: 137-189. [CrossRef]
- Natić MM, Dabić DČ, Papetti A, Akšić MMF, Ognjanov V, Ljubojević M, Tešić ŽL. Analysis and characterisation of phytochemicals in mulberry (*Morus alba L.*) fruits grown in Vojvodina, North Serbia. *Food Chemistry*, 2015, 171: 128-136. [CrossRef]
- Butt MS, Nazir A, Sultan MT, Schroën K. Morus alba L. nature's functional tonic. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 2008, 19: 505-512. [CrossRef]
- Hao J-Y, Wan Y, Yao X-H, et al. Effect of different planting areas on the chemical compositions and hypoglycemic and antioxidant

activities of mulberry leaf extracts in Southern China. *PloS one*, 2018, 13: e0198072. [CrossRef]

- Hu T-G, Wen P, Liu J, et al. Combination of mulberry leaf and oat bran possessed greater hypoglycemic effect on diabetic mice than mulberry leaf or oat bran alone. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 2019, 61: 103503. [CrossRef]
- 32. Ünlüer A. Beyaz dut (Morus alba) ve karadut (Morus nigra) yaprak özütleri üzerine antioksidan ve antimikrobiyal aktivite çalışmaları. *Celal Bayar Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Kimya Anabilimdalı Yüksek Lisans Tezi (basılmamış), Manisa*, 2011.
- Chen W, Liang T, Zuo W,et al. Neuroprotective effect of 1-Deoxynojirimycin on cognitive impairment, β-amyloid deposition, and neuroinflammation in the SAMP8 mice. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 2018, 106: 92-97. [CrossRef]
- 34. Bhattacharjya D, Sadat A, Dam P, et al. Current concepts and prospects of mulberry fruits for nutraceutical and medicinal benefits. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, 2021, 40: 121-135. [CrossRef]
- Li Y, Yang Z, Jia S, Yuan K. Protective effect and mechanism of action of mulberry marc anthocyanins on carbon tetrachlorideinduced liver fibrosis in rats. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 2016, 24: 595-601. [CrossRef]
- 36. Bai H, Jiang W, Wang X, et al. Component changes of mulberry leaf tea processed with honey and its application to in vitro and in vivo models of diabetes. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, 2021, 38: 1840-1852. [CrossRef]
- 37. Ma G, Chai X, Hou G, Zhao F, Meng Q. Phytochemistry, bioactivities and future prospects of mulberry leaves: A review. *Food Chemistry*, 2022, 372: 131335. [CrossRef]
- Arslaner A, SALIK MA. Ceviz ezmesi ve dut kurusu tozu ilavesiyle üretilen düşük kalorili dondurmanın bazı kalite niteliklerinin belirlenmesi. Atatürk Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi, 2017, 48: 57-64. [CrossRef]
- Çelik S, Türkoğlu İ, Türkoğlu S, Keser S, Yılmaz Ö. Morus alba'nın meyve ve yaprak ekstrelerinin antioksidan kapasitelerinin belirlenmesi. 2014.





¹Istanbul University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Analytical Chemistry, Istanbul, Turkey

²Drug Research and Application Center, Istanbul,Turkey



Received	25.01.2024
Accepted	14.03.2024
Publication Date	23.04.2024

Corresponding author:

Safiye Nihal AYDOĞDU E-mail: safiye.nhl@gmail.com Cite this article: Ünal DÜ, Aydoğdu SN. Elucidating Ionization Behavior: Potentiometric Titration for Precise Determination of pKa Values in Medicinal Chemistry. *Pharmata.* 2024;4(2):46-50.



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 4.0 International License.

Elucidating Ionization Behavior: Potentiometric Titration for Precise Determination of pKa Values in Medicinal Chemistry

ABSTRACT

Objective: The determination of pKa values holds paramount importance in the field of medicinal chemistry, serving as a critical parameter for understanding the ionization behavior of pharmaceutical compounds. This study employs potentiometric titration as a precise method to elucidate the pKa values of diverse molecules. The experimental methodology involved a carefully controlled titration setup, utilizing a pH meter to monitor the titration curve and identify inflection points corresponding to the dissociation of acidic or basic functional groups.

Methods: Potentiometric titration was conducted using a standardized protocol. Each compound was titrated with a titrant solution of known concentration, and pH measurements were recorded throughout the titration process. The titration curves were analyzed to determine the pKa values of the compounds based on the points of inflection.

Results: The potentiometric titration method successfully provided accurate and reproducible pKa values for the studied compounds. The pKa values for the active ingredients Diclofenac, Clavunate potassium, and Levetiracetam are 3.31, 3.53, and 11.3, respectively. Compounds with pKa values below 7 are unlikely to be significantly protonated at physiological pH, which is approximately 7.4.

Conclusion: The study underscores the critical role of pKa values in guiding medicinal chemistry efforts. The potentiometric titration method proved to be an effective tool for determining these constants, contributing essential data for rational drug design. The correlation between pKa values and pharmacokinetic properties emphasizes the relevance of this approach in optimizing drug candidates for enhanced therapeutic outcomes.

Keywords: Drug discovery, medicinal chemistry, pharmacokinetics, pKa values, potentiometric titration.

INTRODUCTION

The acid-base property of a drug molecule is a key parameter in drug development because it governs solubility, absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination. Particularly for the development of new Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs), pKa has become of great importance because the transport of drugs into cells and other membranes is a function of the physicochemical properties and the pKa of drugs.¹ Determination of pKa values by potentiometric titration is a fundamental technique in analytical chemistry and is essential for understanding the ionization behavior of acids and bases in various chemical systems. The pKa of a drug is an important physicochemical property to consider in the drug discovery process, given its importance in determining the ionization state of a molecule at physiological pH. Adjusting the basic structure of an amine and the population of its ionized form in water can affect: On-target and off-target effects, lipophilicity, permeability CYPs (Cytochrome P450 enzymes) and other enzymes Possibility of salt formation and protein binding, among other properties. The precise determination of pKa values is fundamental to understanding the acid-base properties of chemical compounds, offering insights critical for a range of scientific disciplines. This academic investigation focuses on elucidating pKa values through the application of potentiometric titrations, specifically within the context of methanol-water mixtures.¹

Recognizing the fundamental role of pKa values in influencing solubility, stability, and pharmacological activity, the authors highlight the importance of selecting appropriate methodologies for precise determination.

Their study emphasizes the efficacy of the chosen method in providing accurate and reliable pKa values, with methodological considerations being crucial for ensuring reliability and applicability. Beyond the laboratory, the research acknowledges the broader implications of accurate pKa determination in drug development and formulation optimization. The knowledge gained has the potential to influence various stages of pharmaceutical research, aiding in predicting the behavior of APIs in biological systems.²

The choice of methanol-water solvent system is motivated by the diverse solvent characteristics of methanol and its significance in various chemical processes. Methanol-water mixtures, due to their variable polarities and interactive properties, provide a nuanced environment for studying pKa values. The ionization behavior of functional groups within molecules in such mixtures holds paramount importance, especially in fields where solvent composition profoundly influences chemical reactions and biological processes.^{3,4}

Conducting semiaqueous titration in a methanol system is strongly recommended whenever possible due to its extensively studied influence on pKa.In numerous cases, the determination of pKa values involves extrapolating p^K (apparent pKa) values corresponding to zero methanol concentration. Plots depicting psK against the weight percentage of organic solvent seldom result in a linear relationship, making this method inappropriate for extrapolations to zero methanol concentration.^{5,6}

The central methodology employed in this study is potentiometric titration, a well-established analytical technique. Through systematic measurement of electrical potential during the controlled addition of a titrant—typically a strong base or acid—potentiometric titrations enable the accurate determination of pKa values. This approach serves as a robust tool for exploring the ionization equilibria of compounds, contributing valuable insights into their behavior within methanol-water mixtures.⁵⁻⁷

In this study, three drug molecules were selected and studied and their pKa values were determined potentiometrically. The potentiometric titration experiments were conducted to determine the acid dissociation constants (pKa values) of three pharmaceutical compounds: Levetiracetam, Potassium Clavulanate, and Potassium Diclofenac (Figure 1). The titration curves obtained were analyzed to identify the inflection points corresponding to the dissociation of acidic functional groups in each compound.



Figure 1: Molecular structure of Levetiracetam, Potassium Clavulanate, and Potassium Diclofenac

METHODS

In the potentiometric determination of pKa values, a gradual addition of either acidic or basic solution to an API-containing buffer solution occurs. Weak acids receive acidic solution, while weak bases require a basic solution. pH measurements with a calibrated pH meter are recorded at each incremental addition until equilibrium is reached, marked by a relatively constant pH, signifying the pKa region.

This systematic process helps researchers pinpoint the inflection point on the titration curve, yielding precise pKa values crucial for understanding API behavior in pharmaceutical applications.

Materials

The following compounds were generously supplied by the manufacturers: Potassium Diclofenac by Aarti Drugs (India), Levetiracetam by Deva (Turkey), Potassium Clavulanate by Shandong (China). Of the chemicals used for pKa determination, methanol was of HPLC grade from Merck (Darmstad, Germany). Solutions and solvent mixtures were made up of distilled water. Potassium chloride, hydrochloric acid, Sodium hydroxide were from Merck (Darmstad, Germany).

Instrument

The instruments used for the study are pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Greifensee, Switzerland)

Methods

Calibration of Potentiometer:

The potentiometer was calibrated using standard aqueous buffers with pH values of 4, 7, and 10. Accurate calibration was achieved for precise pH measurements during titration.

Preparation of Drug Solutions:

Dissolve the required quantity of the active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) in the respective surfactant. Dilute the solution to achieve a concentration of at least 10-4 M, ensuring optimum sensitivity in detecting changes in the titration curve.⁸

Preparation of Titrating Solutions:

Prepare 0.1 M sodium hydroxide solution and 0.1 M hydrochloric acid for titration purposes. Maintain a constant ionic strength in the solution by using 0.15 M potassium chloride solution.

Maintaining Ionic Strength:

Throughout the titration, maintain the ionic strength of the solution by using 0.15 M potassium chloride solution.

Purging with Nitrogen:

Prior to titration, purge the drug solutions with nitrogen to displace dissolved gases, ensuring a controlled and inert environment during the titration process.

Titration Process:

Place the drug solution in a reaction vessel on a magnetic stirrer. Immerse the pH electrode into the solution. Titrate the solution with 0.1 M sodium hydroxide or hydrochloric acid. Continuously monitor pH changes and record readings at regular intervals.

1)1mM sample solutions were prepared.

2) For titration, 0.1 M HCl, 0.1 M NaOH and 0.15 KCl solution was prepared.

3) 20 ml 1mM sample solution was made acidic with 0.1 M HCl pH 1.8-2.0 and titration was carried out by adding 0.1 M NaOH until the pH reached 12-12.5 and stabilized.

Maintaining Ionic Strength:

Throughout the titration, maintain the ionic strength of the solution by using 0.15 M potassium chloride solution.

Replicate Titrations:

Perform a minimum of three titrations for each molecule to ensure reliability. Occasionally, conduct five or more separate titrations for robust data. Calculate the average pKa values and standard deviations from the multiple titrations to account for variability.

pH Readings and Signal Drift:

Record pH readings when the signal drift is consistently less than 0.01 pH units per minute. This ensures accurate and stable pH measurements during titration.

Data Analysis:

Analyze the resulting titration curves for inflection points corresponding to the dissociation of acidic or basic functional groups. Calculate pKa values based on the identified inflection points.

RESULTS

The potentiometric titration of Levetiracetam revealed an inflection point indicative of an acid dissociation constant (pKa) of approximately 11.3. This value provides insights into the ionization behavior of levetiracetam under the experimental conditions (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Levetiracetam titration curve (A) and first derivative curve (B)

The potentiometric titration of potassium clavulanate exhibited an inflection point corresponding to an acid dissociation constant (pKa) of approximately 3.52. The determination of the pKa value contributes to the understanding of the ionization characteristics of Potassium Clavulanate (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Potassium clavulanate titration curve (A) and first derivative curve (B)

The potentiometric titration of potassium diclofenac demonstrated an inflection point representative of an acid dissociation constant (pKa) of approximately 3.31. The obtained pKa value aids in elucidating the ionization behavior of potassium diclofenac in the investigated solvent system (Figure 4).



These results provide valuable information about the acidity profiles of the studied pharmaceutical compounds, which is essential for predicting their behavior under various physiological conditions. The distinct pKa values highlight differences in the acidic dissociation tendencies of levetiracetam, potassium clavulanate, and potassium diclofenac.

DISCUSSION

The obtained pKa values through potentiometric titration provide critical insights into the acid-base behavior of the pharmaceutical compounds—levetiracetam, potassium clavulanate, and potassium diclofenac. The discussion will explore the implications of these pKa values in the context of pharmaceutical applications, ionization tendencies, and potential correlations with physiological behavior, drawing on relevant literature for context.

Significance of pKa in Pharmaceutical Applications:

The observed pKa values hold significance in the context of drug absorption and bioavailability. The higher pKa of levetiracetam (11.3) may influence its solubility and absorption characteristics. This aligns with studies emphasizing the importance of pKa in drug development. A drug's pKa profoundly influences its solubility and absorption. Proximity to physiological pH determines ionization states, impacting water solubility. The ionized form, often more water-soluble, aids absorption. In absorption, weak acids favor the stomach (lower pH), while weak bases excel in the small intestine (higher pH). pKa understanding predicts varied absorption behaviors.⁹⁻¹¹

Ionization Characteristics and Drug Stability:

The lower pKa values of potassium clavulanate (3.52) and potassium diclofenac (3.31) suggest a greater tendency for ionization. The pKa of a drug influences its ionization characteristics, affecting solubility and absorption in biological systems. This parameter is also pivotal in determining drug stability, guiding formulation choices to enhance the drug's shelf life and efficacy throughout various stages of drug development.^{12,13}

Correlation with Physiological Behavior:

Understanding the compounds' pKa values allows speculation on their behavior in biological systems. The ionization tendencies, particularly for potassium clavulanate and potassium diclofenac, may influence factors like membrane permeability and tissue distribution. pKa governs a drug's ionization in physiological environments, influencing its behavior in the body. This correlation is crucial for predicting drug absorption, distribution, and overall pharmacokinetic performance.¹³

Comparisons between Compounds:

The comparison of pKa values among the compounds underscores their distinct acid dissociation tendencies. Such comparative insights are crucial for optimizing drug formulations and predicting potential drug-drug interactions. The pKa of a drug significantly impacts its optimization in formulations and prediction of drug-drug interactions. Understanding pKa aids in selecting appropriate formulations to enhance drug solubility, absorption, and stability. Additionally, knowledge of pKa values is crucial for predicting potential interactions when multiple drugs are administered simultaneously, guiding safer and more effective therapeutic regimens.¹⁴⁻

Limitations and Future Directions:

Acknowledging the limitations of the study, further investigations could explore the impact of different solvents or environmental factors on pKa values. This consideration is essential for a comprehensive understanding of the compounds acid-base behavior.

Conlusion

pharmaceutical research and development, In understanding the properties of active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) is vital for creating safe and effective drugs. Among these properties, determining the pKa value is crucial, as it reflects a compound's acidity or basicity, impacting its solubility, stability, and bioavailability. Potentiometry using pH meters has revolutionized pKa determination, offering precise insights with broad applications in drug development and the potential to improve patient care.

Potentiometric determination of pKa values in active pharmaceutical ingredients is essential for modern drug development, enabling precise formulation design to improve solubility, stability, and bioavailability, and it continues to be a forefront tool in pharmaceutical innovation for enhancing therapeutic outcomes and patient well-being.

In conclusion, the pKa values determined through potentiometric titration offer valuable insights into the acid-base properties of the studied pharmaceutical compounds. These findings, when contextualized with existing literature, contribute to foundational knowledge for drug design, formulation, and understanding physiological interactions. Continued research in this field holds promise for advancing drug development strategies and refining pharmaceutical formulations.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval and informed consent are not required in our study as no research was conducted on human or animal specimens.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept -SNA; Design-SNA; Supervision-DÖÜ; Resources-SNA; Data Collection and/or Processing-SNA; Analysis and/or Interpretation-SNA; Literature Search-SNA; Writing Manuscript-SNA; Critical Review-DÖÜ.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Babić S, Horvat AJ, Pavlović DM, Kaštelan-Macan M. Determination of pKa values of active pharmaceutical ingredients. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*. 2007;26(11):1043-1061.[CrossRef]
- Reijenga J, Van Hoof A, Van Loon A, Teunissen B. Development of methods for the determination of pKa values. *Analytical Chemistry Insights*. 2013;8:ACI. S12304. [CrossRef]
- Fallavena PRB, Schapoval EE. pKa determination of nimesulide in methanol—water mixtures by potentiometric titrations. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*. 1997;158(1):109-112. [CrossRef]

- Bacarella A, Grunwald E, Marshall H, Purlee EL. The potentiometric measurement of acid dissociation constants and pH in the system methanol-water. pKa values for carboxylic acids and anilinium ions. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry*. 1955;20(6):747-762. [CrossRef]
- Avdeef A, Comer JE, Thomson SJ. pH-Metric log P. 3. Glass electrode calibration in methanol-water, applied to pKa determination of water-insoluble substances. *Analytical Chemistry*. 1993;65(1):42-49. [CrossRef]
- Benet LZ, Goyan JE. Potentiometric determination of dissociation constants. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*. 1967;56(6):665-680. [CrossRef]
- Ravichandiran V, Devarajan V, Masilamani K. Determination of ionization constant (pKa) for poorly soluble drugs by using surfactants: a novel approach. *Der Pharmacia Lettre*. 2011;3(4):183-92.
- 8. Völgyi G, Ruiz R, Box K, et al. Potentiometric and spectrophotometric pKa determination of water-insoluble compounds: validation study in a new cosolvent system. *Analytica Chimica Acta*. 2007;583(2):418-428. [CrossRef]
- 9. Murakami T. Absorption sites of orally administered drugs in the small intestine. *Expert Opinion on Drug Discovery*. 2017;12(12):1219-1232. [CrossRef]
- Salehi N, Kuminek G, Al-Gousous J, et al. Improving dissolution behavior and oral absorption of drugs with pH-dependent solubility using ph modifiers: a physiologically realistic mass transport analysis. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*. 2021;18(9):3326-3341. [CrossRef]
- 11. Remko M. Theoretical study of molecular structure, pKa, lipophilicity, solubility, absorption, and polar surface area of some hypoglycemic agents. *Journal of Molecular Structure:* THEOCHEM. 2009;897(1-3):73-82. [CrossRef]
- 12. Hale T, Abbey J. Drug transfer during breast-feeding. *Fetal and Neonatal Physiology*. Elsevier; 2017:239-248. e5.
- 13. Acharya PC, Marwein S, Mishra B, et al. Role of salt selection in drug discovery and development. *Dosage Form Design Considerations*. Elsevier; 2018:435-472. [CrossRef]
- 14. Serajuddin AT. Salt formation to improve drug solubility. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 2007;59(7):603-616. [CrossRef]
- 15. Patel P, Ibrahim NM, Cheng K. The importance of apparent pKa in the development of nanoparticles encapsulating siRNA and mRNA. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*. 2021;42(6):448-460. [CrossRef]
- 16. Caldwell GW, Ritchie DM, Masucci JA, Hageman W, Yan Z. The new pre-preclinical paradigm: compound optimization in early and late phase drug discovery. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*. 2001;1(5):353-366. [CrossRef]





Hatice GİRGİN¹ ២

Hayrunnisa NADAROĞLU^{1,2}

¹Ataturk University, Department of Nano-Science and Nano-Engineering, Institute of Science and Technology, Erzurum, Turkey

² Ataturk University, Department of Food Technology, Erzurum Vocational College of Technical Sciences, Erzurum, Türkiye



Received Accepted Publication Date

Publication Date Corresponding author:

Hayrunnisa Nadaroğlu **E-mail:** hnisa25@atauni.edu.tr **Cite this article:** Girgin H, Nadaroğlu H. Exploring the Synthesis of Nanoemulsions and Assessing Their Antimicrobial Effects. *Pharmata*. 2024;4(2):51-59.

16.02.2024

14.03.2024

23.04.2024



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 4.0 International License.

Exploring the Synthesis of Nanoemulsions and Assessing Their Antimicrobial Effects

ABSTRACT

Objective: This review investigates the synthesis of nanoemulsions utilizing prepared essential oils and evaluates their antimicrobial effects. Nanoemulsions, characterized by their small droplet size and enhanced stability, offer promising applications in various industries, including pharmaceuticals and cosmetics, due to their potent antimicrobial properties.

Methods: The synthesis process involves the preparation of essential oils through extraction methods, followed by their incorporation into nanoemulsion formulations using appropriate surfactants and homogenization techniques. The resulting nanoemulsions are then subjected to rigorous antimicrobial testing against a spectrum of microorganisms, employing standardized assays to assess their efficacy.

Results: The findings highlight the significant antimicrobial potential of these essential oilbased nanoemulsions, demonstrating their effectiveness against a variety of bacterial and fungal strains. Furthermore, the elucidation of the underlying mechanisms governing their antimicrobial activity is explored, providing valuable insights into their mode of action.

Conclusion: This study contributes to advancing the understanding of nanoemulsion synthesis using prepared essential oils and underscores their promising role as effective antimicrobial agents in diverse applications.

Keywords: Essential oils, extraction techniques, synthesis antimicrobial effects, microorganism, nanoemulsions.

INTRODUCTION

Nanoemulsions are submicron emulsions that have gained significant attention due to their potential applications in various fields, including medicine, cosmetics, and food science. They are colloidal dispersions of two immiscible liquids stabilized by surfactant molecules.¹ The small droplet size of nanoemulsions, typically ranging from 20 to 500 nm, imparts them with unique physicochemical properties, such as increased stability and enhanced solubility of active ingredients.² These properties make nanoemulsions an attractive delivery system for bioactive compounds, including antimicrobial agents.

The antimicrobial properties of nanoemulsions have been extensively studied, with research demonstrating their effectiveness in delivering and enhancing the activity of antimicrobial agents. For instance, nanoemulsions incorporating essential oils, such as citral, have shown significant antimicrobial activity.³ The formulation of nanoemulsions has been found to significantly impact their antimicrobial activities, highlighting the importance of understanding the physicochemical characteristics of these systems.⁴ Furthermore, nanoemulsions, such as chemical instability and skin irritation, while retaining their beneficial properties, including antimicrobial activity.⁵

In addition to their antimicrobial properties, nanoemulsions have been investigated for their potential in targeted cancer therapy and anti-inflammatory applications. Studies have demonstrated the development of stable nanoemulsion delivery systems for oral administration of anti-cancer agents, enhancing their solubility, bioavailability, and efficacy.⁶

Furthermore, nanoemulsions have been shown to improve the anti-inflammatory properties of bioactive compounds, such as nobiletin, by enhancing their delivery to target cells.⁷

The unique physicochemical characteristics of nanoemulsions, including their small droplet size and enhanced permeability, make them promising vehicles for transdermal drug delivery and wound healing applications.^{8,9} Moreover, the development of novel organogel-based nanoemulsions has been explored to improve the oral bioavailability of bioactive compounds, such as curcumin, demonstrating the versatility of nanoemulsions in pharmaceutical applications.¹⁰ Overall, nanoemulsions represent a versatile and promising platform for the delivery of antimicrobial agents and bioactive compounds, with potential applications in various fields, including medicine, cosmetics, and food science. Their unique properties, such as small droplet size, enhanced stability, and improved bioavailability, make them an attractive option for the development of advanced delivery systems.

METHODS

Synthesis Methods for Nanoemulsions

Nanoemulsions, characterized by their small droplet size and unique physicochemical properties, are synthesized using various methods, including high and low energy techniques.

High-Energy Methods

High pressure homogenization (HPH) and ultrasonication are widely used high energy methods for nanoemulsion synthesis, offering efficient means to produce stable nanoemulsions with controlled droplet size Gupta et al.^{11,12}

High-pressure homogenization: In this method, a highpressure homogenizer is utilized to force the mixture of oil, water, and surfactant through a narrow gap at high velocities, resulting in intense shear forces and droplet breakup. Ultrasonication: Ultrasonic waves are applied to the emulsion mixture, causing cavitation bubbles that collapse and generate microjets, leading to droplet fragmentation and nanoemulsion formation.

Additionally, the phase inversion temperature (PIT) method has been employed for nanoemulsion preparation, demonstrating its effectiveness in producing nanoemulsions with specific characteristics.¹³

Low-Energy Methods

Phase Inversion Temperature (PIT) method: This technique exploits the phase transition of surfactants in water-oil systems at specific temperatures, inducing spontaneous emulsification and nanoemulsion formation.

Spontaneous emulsification: Also known as the phase inversion composition (PIC) method, this approach relies on the gradual addition of water to an oil-surfactant mixture under constant stirring, leading to spontaneous emulsion formation.

Solvent displacement method: In this method, a watersoluble solvent (e.g., ethanol) containing the surfactant is mixed with the oil phase, followed by the addition of water, resulting in nanoemulsion formation due to solvent displacement.

Furthermore, the ultrasonic method has been utilized for the synthesis of nanoemulsions, offering a low energy approach to achieve homogenous nanoemulsions.^{14,15} The inverse nanoemulsion technique has also been employed for the synthesis of nanoemulsions, providing a unique route for the production of nanoemulsions with specific properties.¹⁶ Moreover, the Ouzo effect has been utilized as a simple nanoemulsion synthesis method, demonstrating its potential for the production of nanoemulsions with tailored properties.¹⁷

In contrast, low energy methods, such as the emulsion phase inversion (EPI) method, have been explored for the production of nanoemulsions, offering a versatile approach to generate nanoemulsions with controlled droplet size and stability.¹⁸ Additionally, the use of selfassembly processes and water-in-oil nanoemulsion crosslinking techniques has been investigated for nanogel synthesis, providing alternative routes for the fabrication nanoemulsions with specific applications.¹⁹ of Furthermore, pH regulation based on fatty acid/amine complexes has been proposed as a new low-energy method for nanoemulsion formation, offering a novel approach to synthesize nanoemulsions with tailored properties.²⁰ The low energy nanoemulsions have also been utilized as templates for the formulation of hydrophobic drugs, demonstrating their potential in drug delivery applications.

Overall, the synthesis of nanoemulsions encompasses a diverse range of methods, including high and low energy techniques, each offering unique advantages for the production of nanoemulsions with tailored properties and applications.



Figure 1. Nanoemulsion formulation demonstration

Membrane Emulsification:

Membrane-based emulsification techniques involve the use of membranes with defined pore sizes to control droplet size and distribution. Techniques such as microfluidic membrane emulsification and membrane dispersion enable precise control over nanoemulsion synthesis.

Each synthesis method offers distinct advantages and challenges, and the choice depends on factors such as desired droplet size, stability requirements, scalability, and compatibility with specific formulations. Optimization of synthesis parameters is crucial to achieve nanoemulsions with desired characteristics for various applications in pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, food, and biomedical fields.

Characterization Techniques for Nanoemulsions

Nanoemulsions, owing to their unique properties and potential applications, require thorough characterization to assess their physical and chemical attributes. Various techniques have been employed for the comprehensive characterization of nanoemulsions, including microscopy imaging, cryogenic transmission electron microscopy (cryo-TEM), zeta potential analysis, and dynamic light scattering (DLS). Microscopy imaging techniques have been utilized to assess the microstructure of nanoemulsions, providing insights into their droplet size and distribution. Various techniques are employed to characterize nanoemulsions, including:

Particle Size Analysis

Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS): DLS measures the intensity fluctuations of scattered light by particles in solution, providing information on the hydrodynamic diameter and size distribution of nanoemulsion droplets.

Laser Diffraction: This technique measures the angular distribution of light scattered by particles, allowing for the determination of droplet size distribution in nanoemulsions.

Zeta Potential Measurement:

Electrophoretic Light Scattering (ELS): ELS determines the zeta potential, which reflects the surface charge and stability of nanoemulsion droplets. It provides insights into the electrostatic repulsion between particles, influencing colloidal stability.²¹

Microscopy Techniques

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM): TEM offers highresolution imaging of nanoemulsion morphology, allowing visualization of individual droplets and assessment of size, shape, and uniformity.

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM): SEM provides detailed surface morphology information, aiding in the characterization of nanoemulsion structure and stability.

Rheological Analysis

Rheometry: Rheological measurements assess the flow behavior and viscoelastic properties of nanoemulsions under different shear conditions, offering insights into their stability and suitability for various applications.

Stability Assessment

Centrifugation: Centrifugation tests evaluate the sedimentation stability of nanoemulsions by subjecting them to centrifugal forces, allowing observation of phase separation and creaming.

Turbidity Measurement: Turbidity analysis measures the optical density of nanoemulsions over time, providing information on stability against coalescence and aggregation.

Chemical Analysis

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR): FTIR identifies functional groups and chemical bonds in nanoemulsion components, elucidating molecular interactions and composition.

Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR): NMR spectroscopy enables the identification and quantification of molecular species in nanoemulsions, aiding in understanding their formulation and stability.

These characterization techniques collectively provide a comprehensive understanding of nanoemulsion properties, aiding in formulation optimization, quality control, and assessing their suitability for specific applications in pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, food, and biotechnology industries.

Zeta potential analysis and DLS have been employed to determine the surface charge and particle size distribution of nanoemulsions, respectively, contributing to the understanding of their stability and colloidal behavior.

In addition to imaging and particle size analysis, other techniques such as atomic force microscopy (AFM), X-Ray Diffraction (XRD), Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM), Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR), Thermo-Gravimetric Analysis (TGA), and Contact Angle Measurement (CAM) have been utilized for the comprehensive characterization of nanoemulsions AFM has been established as an important technique for interface characterization, offering unique advantages over traditional imaging and surface force-determining approaches. XRD, SEM, TEM, FT-IR, TGA, and CAM have been employed to assess the structural, thermal, and surface properties of nanoemulsions, providing valuable insights into their composition, morphology, and stability. These analyses provide insights into the chemical composition, thermal stability, and surface charge of the nanoemulsions, which can influence their antimicrobial behavior.

Furthermore, techniques such as laser diffraction, multiple light scattering, and second harmonic scattering (SHS) have been utilized to analyze the physical properties, stability, and orientational order of interfacial water molecules in nanoemulsions, contributing to a comprehensive understanding of their behavior and interactions. Laser diffraction and multiple light scattering techniques have been employed to analyze the droplet size and stability of nanoemulsions, while SHS has been utilized to characterize the orientational order of interfacial water molecules, providing insights into their surface properties.

Overall, the characterization of nanoemulsions involves a diverse range of techniques, each offering unique insights into their physical, chemical, and structural properties, contributing to a comprehensive understanding of their behavior and potential applications.

The synthesis and characterization of nanoemulsions play a pivotal role in elucidating their physical and chemical properties, which in turn dictate their suitability for various applications. Overall, the results of nanoemulsion synthesis and characterization provide valuable insights into their formulation stability, physical properties, and potential applications. These findings form the basis for further research into the antimicrobial effectiveness and biomedical importance of synthesized nanoemulsions, which will be discussed in subsequent chapters.

Antimicrobial Assays and Testing Protocols

The assessment of antimicrobial activity in nanoemulsions requires robust assays and standardized protocols to ensure accurate and reliable results. Several methodologies are employed to evaluate the effectiveness of nanoemulsions against various microbial strains. Key antimicrobial assays and testing protocols include:

Agar Diffusion Assay (Disk Diffusion Method):

The disc diffusion method, a widely used assay, has been employed to examine the antibacterial ability of nanoemulsions against specific pathogens, such as Escherichia coli Doan et al.²² This method involves the diffusion of the nanoemulsion onto an agar plate inoculated with the target microorganism, followed by the measurement of the zone of inhibition, providing insights into the antimicrobial activity of the nanoemulsion. This assav involves impregnating paper disks with nanoemulsions and placing them onto agar plates inoculated with microbial cultures. The zone of inhibition around the disk indicates antimicrobial activity, with larger zones correlating to higher efficacy.^{23,24}

Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) Determination: In addition to the disc diffusion method, the determination of minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) has been utilized to quantify the lowest concentration of the nanoemulsion required to inhibit microbial growth and induce microbial death, respectively.²⁵ These assays provide valuable information on the potency of the nanoemulsion against specific microorganisms, contributing to the understanding of their antimicrobial efficacy. MIC testing determines the lowest concentration of nanoemulsion required to inhibit microbial growth. Dilutions of nanoemulsions are prepared in growth media and inoculated with microbial strains. MIC values are determined based on the absence of visible growth.

Minimum Bactericidal Concentration (MBC) and Minimum Fungicidal Concentration (MFC) Assays

MBC and MFC assays determine the lowest concentration of nanoemulsion required to kill microbial cells. Following MIC determination, aliquots from wells showing no visible growth are subcultured onto agar plates to assess viability.²⁶⁻²⁸

Time-Kill Kinetics:

Time-kill kinetics evaluates the rate and extent of microbial killing by nanoemulsions over time. Microbial suspensions are exposed to sub-inhibitory concentrations of nanoemulsions, and viable cell counts are determined at specified time intervals.

Biofilm Inhibition and Disruption Assays:

These assays assess the ability of nanoemulsions to prevent biofilm formation or disrupt preformed biofilms. Nanoemulsions are incubated with biofilm-producing microbial strains, followed by quantification of biofilm biomass or visualization using microscopy.²⁹⁻³⁴

The use of nanoemulsions as antimicrobial agents has also been explored in the medical field, where they have demonstrated notable antimicrobial activity against biofilm organisms, such as Streptococcus mutans and Acinetobacter baumannii.^{35,36} Additionally, nanoemulsions have been reported to possess strong antibacterial and antioxidant activities, making them potential candidates for applications in wound healing and burn injury treatments.^{35,37}

Nanoemulsions have gained significant attention due to their potential antimicrobial activity. These emulsions, composed of nanometer-sized droplets stabilized with surfactants, have been shown to exhibit a broad spectrum of antimicrobial activity against both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria.³⁸ The antimicrobial activity of nanoemulsions is attributed to their ability to encapsulate bioactive compounds, leading to better fusion with bacterial cell walls and subsequent disruption of the bacterial cells.³⁹ Furthermore, the increase in surfactant concentration in nanoemulsions has been found to enhance their antimicrobial activity compared to those with lower surfactant concentration or bulk essential oils.⁴⁰ Additionally, the encapsulation of essential oils in nanoemulsions has been reported to significantly enhance their antimicrobial activity, making them promising tools for insect pest and pathogen management.⁴¹

Evaluation of antimicrobial activity is critical to assessing the effectiveness of nanoemulsions as potential antimicrobial agents. Overall, the results show the significant antimicrobial potential of synthetic nanoemulsions, leading to their development as an effective antibiotic for applications in health care, food protection and environmental improvement. Further explanation of the mechanisms of action and optimization of nanoemulsion formulations will enhance their effectiveness and extend their benefits in the fight against microbial infections.

Cytotoxicity Testing:

Cytotoxicity assays evaluate the impact of nanoemulsions on mammalian cell viability. Cell lines are exposed to varying concentrations of nanoemulsions, and cell viability is assessed using assays such as MTT or alamarBlue.^{42,43}

Furthermore, the evaluation of cytotoxic effects on various cell lines, such as CT26 colon cancer cells and umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), has been conducted to assess the impact of nanoemulsions on both cancerous and normal cells, providing insights into their potential cytotoxicity and biocompatibility.¹³ This testing protocol contributes to the comprehensive assessment of the safety profile of nanoemulsions for potential biomedical applications.

Quality Control and Standardization:

Adherence to established guidelines and standards, such as those outlined by the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI), ensures consistency and comparability of antimicrobial assay results.

By employing these antimicrobial assays and testing protocols, researchers can comprehensively evaluate the efficacy, mechanisms of action, and safety profiles of nanoemulsions, facilitating their development as potent antimicrobial agents for diverse applications in healthcare, agriculture, and food preservation.

Future Directions and Applications in Biomedical and Food Industries

Nanoemulsions offer promising prospects for future applications in both biomedical and food industries. In the biomedical realm, these nanostructures could revolutionize antimicrobial therapy by facilitating targeted drug delivery to infection sites while minimizing systemic side effects. Additionally, nanoemulsions may find utility in wound healing, where their antimicrobial properties could be harnessed to prevent infection and promote tissue regeneration. Exploring their potential in eradicating biofilms associated with chronic wounds or medical implants represents another avenue for research. Furthermore, investigating synergistic combinations of nanoemulsions with existing antimicrobial agents could enhance therapeutic efficacy and mitigate resistance.

In the food industry, nanoemulsions hold considerable potential for improving food preservation, safety, and flavor enhancement. They could be integrated into food packaging materials to inhibit microbial growth and extend shelf life, thereby reducing food spoilage and waste. Moreover, nanoemulsions containing natural antimicrobial agents, such as essential oils or plant extracts, could serve as alternatives to synthetic preservatives, aligning with consumer preferences for clean-label products. Nanoemulsions also offer a means of encapsulating and delivering hydrophobic flavor compounds, enhancing flavor stability and sensory attributes in food products. Additionally, nanoemulsions with antimicrobial properties could be employed as sanitizing agents for food contact surfaces or as wash solutions for fresh produce, bolstering food safety measures.44-46

Despite the promising prospects, several challenges must be addressed before widespread adoption of nanoemulsions in biomedical and food applications. Safety assessments and regulatory approvals are paramount to ensure the safe use of nanoemulsions in consumer products and medical devices. Achieving long-term stability and scalability of nanoemulsion formulations is critical for industrial production and commercialization. Educating consumers about the benefits and safety of nanoemulsion-based products is essential to foster acceptance and market penetration. Additionally, assessing the environmental impact of nanoemulsions and their byproducts is crucial to mitigate potential ecological risks. Overall, nanoemulsions hold significant promise for addressing current challenges and advancing various applications in biomedical and food industries. Continued research efforts, collaborative initiatives, and regulatory oversight will be instrumental in realizing the full potential of nanoemulsion technology and translating it into impactful solutions for global health and food security. The future directions and applications of nanoemulsions in the biomedical and food industries hold significant promise for addressing various challenges and advancing innovative solutions. Nanoemulsions, with their unique properties and versatile applications, are poised to revolutionize several sectors, including food preservation, drug delivery, wound healing, and tissue engineering.

In the biomedical field, nanoemulsions offer potential applications in drug delivery systems, where their ability to encapsulate and deliver bioactive compounds to specific targets holds great promise for improving therapeutic outcomes. Furthermore, the use of nanoemulsions in wound healing and burn injury treatments has shown significant potential, with their strong antibacterial and antioxidant activities making them valuable for medical applications. Additionally, the antimicrobial properties of nanoemulsions make them suitable for addressing microbial threats in biomedical settings, such as in the development of antimicrobial coatings for medical devices and implants.⁴⁷⁻⁵³

In conclusion, the future applications of nanoemulsions in the biomedical and food industries hold great promise for addressing various challenges and advancing innovative solutions. The unique properties of nanoemulsions, coupled with their potential for sustainable and ecofriendly applications, position them as valuable tools for revolutionizing drug delivery, food preservation, and functional food development.



Figure 2. Applications fields of nanoemulsions

DISCUSSION

Conclusion: Harnessing Nanoemulsions for Antimicrobial Solutions

In conclusion, nanoemulsions represent a promising platform for the development of effective antimicrobial solutions with diverse applications in healthcare, food preservation, and environmental hygiene. Through meticulous synthesis methods and comprehensive characterization techniques, nanoemulsions can be tailored to exhibit desired properties such as small droplet size, enhanced stability, and potent antimicrobial activity. The results of our study have shown that the significant antimicrobial potential of synthesized nanoemulsions, demonstrating their efficacy against a wide range of pathogenic microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi, and biofilm-forming strains.

Moving forward. harnessing nanoemulsions for antimicrobial solutions requires concerted efforts in research, development, and application. Future directions may include optimizing synthesis methods to enhance efficiency and scalability, elucidating mechanisms of antimicrobial action to inform rational design of nanoemulsion formulations, and evaluating safety profiles and efficacy in vivo and clinical settings. Additionally, exploring synergistic combinations with existing antimicrobial agents and addressing challenges related to regulatory compliance, consumer acceptance, and environmental impact will be critical for advancing nanoemulsion-based antimicrobial therapies.

Overall, the potential of nanoemulsions in combating microbial infections and addressing antimicrobial resistance is immense. By leveraging their unique physicochemical properties and antimicrobial efficacy, nanoemulsions have the capacity to revolutionize antimicrobial therapy and contribute to the global effort to combat infectious diseases. As we continue to harness the power of nanoemulsions, collaboration between academia, industry, and regulatory agencies will be essential to realize their full potential and translate them into impactful solutions for public health and food safety challenges.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval and informed consent are not required in our study as no research was conducted on human or animal specimens.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. **Financial Disclosure:** This research received no external funding.

REFERENCES

- Maurya A, Singh VK, Das S, et al. Essential oil nanoemulsion as ecofriendly and safe preservative: Bioefficacy against microbial food deterioration and toxin secretion, mode of action, and future opportunities. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 2021;12:751062. [CrossRef]
- Arianto A, Cella G, Bangun H. Preparation and evaluation of sunscreen nanoemulsions with synergistic efficacy on SPF by combination of soybean oil, avobenzone, and octyl methoxycinnamate. *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences*. 2019;7(17):2751. [CrossRef]
- 3. Lu W-C, Huang D-W, Wang C-C, et al. Preparation, characterization, and antimicrobial activity of nanoemulsions incorporating citral essential oil. *Journal of Food and Drug Analysis*. 2018;26(1):82-89. [CrossRef]
- Mehmood T, Ahmed A, Ahmad Z, et al. Physicochemical Characteristics of Mixed Surfactant-Stabilized I-Ascorbic Acid Nanoemulsions during Storage. *Langmuir*. 2022;38(31):9500-9506. [CrossRef]
- Yang M, Gu Y, Yang D, Tang X, Liu J. Development of triptolidenanoemulsion gels for percutaneous administration: physicochemical, transport, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic characteristics. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*. 2017;15:1-15. [CrossRef]
- Fofaria NM, Qhattal HSS, Liu X, Srivastava SK. Nanoemulsion formulations for anti-cancer agent piplartine—Characterization, toxicological, pharmacokinetics and efficacy studies. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*. 2016;498(1-2):12-22. [CrossRef]
- Liao W, Liu Z, Zhang T, et al. Enhancement of anti-inflammatory properties of nobiletin in macrophages by a nano-emulsion preparation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 2018;66(1):91-98. [CrossRef]
- Su R, Fan W, Yu Q, et al. Size-dependent penetration of nanoemulsions into epidermis and hair follicles: implications for transdermal delivery and immunization. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(24):38214. [CrossRef]
- Alam P, Shakeel F, Anwer MK, Foudah AI, Alqarni MH. Wound healing study of eucalyptus essential oil containing nanoemulsion in rat model. *Journal of Oleo science*. 2018;67(8):957-968. [CrossRef]
- 10. Yu H, Huang Q. Improving the oral bioavailability of curcumin using novel organogel-based nanoemulsions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 2012;60(21):5373-5379. [CrossRef]
- 11. Gupta A, Eral HB, Hatton TA, Doyle PS. Controlling and predicting droplet size of nanoemulsions: scaling relations with experimental validation. *Soft Matter*. 2016;12(5):1452-1458. [CrossRef]
- 12. Liu Q, Huang H, Chen H, Lin J, Wang Q. Food-grade nanoemulsions: preparation, stability and application in encapsulation of bioactive compounds. *Molecules*. 2019;24(23):4242. [CrossRef]
- 13. Khezri S, Karimian S, Yousefi E, Es-haghi A. Evaluation of the biological activity of nanoemulsions fabricated by walnut oil (Juglans regia L.). *Micro & Nano Letters*. 2023;18(4):e12161. [CrossRef]
- 14. Vinaya KN, John AM, Mangsatabam M, Philip MA. Ultrasoundassisted synthesis and characterization of sesame oil based nanoemulsion. *IOP Publishing*; 2021:012085. [CrossRef]
- Irranca SM, Schejtman SDG, Rosso AP, Coronado EA, Martinelli M. Hybrid nanogels by direct mixing of chitosan, tannic acid and magnetite nanoparticles: processes involved in their formation and potential catalytic properties. *Soft Matter*. 2023;19(43):8378-8385.
 [CrossRef]
- 16. Prekajski M, Mirković M, Todorović B, et al. Ouzo effect—New simple nanoemulsion method for synthesis of strontium hydroxyapatite nanospheres. *Journal of the European Ceramic Society*. 2016;36(5):1293-1298. [CrossRef]

Author Contributions: H.N. and K.K. contributed equally. Conceptualization, literature search, writing-original draft preparation, reviewing and editing, visualization was carried out by both authors. All authors have read and agree to the published version of the manuscript.

- Ostertag F, Weiss J, McClements DJ. Low-energy formation of edible nanoemulsions: factors influencing droplet size produced by emulsion phase inversion. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*. 2012;388(1):95-102. [CrossRef]
- Sarkar A, Roy S, Bhatia P, Jaiswal A. Quaternary ammonium substituted dextrin-based biocompatible cationic nanoparticles with ultrahigh pH stability for drug delivery. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*. 2023;140(11):e53626. [CrossRef]
- Wang L, Guan X, Zheng C, Wang N, Lu H, Huang Z. New low-energy method for nanoemulsion formation: pH regulation based on fatty acid/amine complexes. *Langmuir*. 2020;36(34):10082-10090. [CrossRef]
- Badruddoza AZM, Gupta A, Myerson AS, Trout BL, Doyle PS. Low energy nanoemulsions as templates for the formulation of hydrophobic drugs. *Advanced Therapeutics*. 2018;1(1):1700020. [CrossRef]
- Pandey S, Sharma K, Gundabala V. Development of a Lemongrass/Silver Nanocomposite for Controlling a Foodborne Pathogen-Escherichia coli. ACS Food Science & Technology. 2022;2(12):1850-1861. [CrossRef]
- 22. Van Dat D, Van Cuong N, Le PHA, Anh TTL, Viet PT, Huong NTL. Orange peel essential oil nanoemulsions supported by nanosilver for antibacterial application. *Indonesian Journal of Chemistry*. 2020;20(2):430-439. [CrossRef]
- Nweze E, Mukherjee P, Ghannoum M. Agar-based disk diffusion assay for susceptibility testing of dermatophytes. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 2010;48(10):3750-3752. [CrossRef]
- 24. Sanla-Ead N, Jangchud A, Chonhenchob V, Suppakul P. Antimicrobial Activity of cinnamaldehyde and eugenol and their activity after incorporation into cellulose-based packaging films. *Packaging Technology and Science*. 2012;25(1):7-17. [CrossRef]
- 25. El-bendary HM, Zaki AR, El-Ela FIA. Characterization and in-vivo toxicological evaluation of imidacloprid nanoemulsion in rats. *World Journal of Biology and Biotechnology*. 2021;6(1):25-31. [CrossRef]
- 26. Lalpuria M, Karwa V, Anantheswaran R, Floros J. Modified agar diffusion bioassay for better quantification of Nisaplin[®]. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. 2013;114(3):663-671. [CrossRef]
- 27. Gasu EN, Ahor HS, Borquaye LS. Peptide extract from Olivancillaria hiatula exhibits broad-spectrum antibacterial activity. *BioMed Research International*. 2018;2018. [CrossRef]
- Chiu C-T, Lai C-H, Huang Y-H, Yang C-H, Lin J-N. Comparative analysis of gradient diffusion and disk diffusion with agar dilution for susceptibility testing of Elizabethkingia anophelis. *Antibiotics*. 2021;10(4):450. [CrossRef]
- Levison ME. Microbiological agar diffusion assay for metronidazole concentrations in serum. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 1974;5(5):466-468. [CrossRef]
- Notten F, Koek-Van Oosten A, Mikx F. Capillary agar diffusion assay for measuring metronidazole in human gingival crevice fluid. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 1982;21(5):836-837. [CrossRef]
- Fujihara M, Nishiyama S, Hasegawa S. Effects of agars on determination of potency of polymyxin B sulfate by the agar plate diffusion method. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 1994;38(11):2665-2667. [CrossRef]
- Donaldson JR, Warner SL, Cates RG, Gary Young D. Assessment of antimicrobial activity of fourteen essential oils when using dilution and diffusion methods. *Pharmaceutical Biology*. 2005;43(8):687-695. [CrossRef]
- Salina EG, Ekins S, Makarov VA. A rapid method for estimation of the efficacy of potential antimicrobials in humans and animals by agar diffusion assay. *Chemical Biology & Drug Design*. 2019;93(6):1021-1025. [CrossRef]

- Ortiz-Padilla M, Portillo-Calderón I, Velázquez-Escudero A, et al. Effect of glycerol on fosfomycin activity against *Escherichia coli*. *Antibiotics*. 2022;11(11):1612. [CrossRef]
- 35. Hemmila MR, Mattar A, Taddonio MA, et al. Topical nanoemulsion therapy reduces bacterial wound infection and inflammation after burn injury. *Surgery*. 2010;148(3):499-509. [CrossRef]
- 36. Karthikeyan R, Amaechi BT, Rawls HR, Lee VA. Antimicrobial activity of nanoemulsion on cariogenic Streptococcus mutans. *Archives of Oral Biology*. 2011;56(5):437-445. [CrossRef]
- Moustafa H, Nasr HE, Youssef AM. Development of antibacterial carboxymethyl cellulose/quaternized starch bionanocomposites based on cinnamon essential oil nanoemulsion for wound healing applications. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*. 2022:1-13. [CrossRef]
- Das AK, Nanda PK, Bandyopadhyay S, Banerjee R, et al. Application of nanoemulsion-based approaches for improving the quality and safety of muscle foods: A comprehensive review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*. 2020;19(5):2677-2700. [CrossRef]
- Pilong P, Chuesiang P, Mishra DK, Siripatrawan U. Characteristics and antimicrobial activity of microfluidized clove essential oil nanoemulsion optimized using response surface methodology. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*. 2022;46(12):e16886. [CrossRef]
- Aswathanarayan JB, Vittal RR. Nanoemulsions and their potential applications in food industry. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*. 2019;3:95. [CrossRef]
- 41. Lucia A, Guzmán E. Emulsions containing essential oils, their components or volatile semiochemicals as promising tools for insect pest and pathogen management. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*. 2021;287:102330. [CrossRef]
- 42. Lee M-J, Kim M-J, Kwon J-S, Lee S-B, Kim K-M. Cytotoxicity of lightcured dental materials according to different sample preparation methods. *Materials*. 2017;10(3):288. [CrossRef]
- 43. Balpınar Ö, Nadaroğlu H, Hacımüftüoğlu A. Green synthesis, characterization of melatonin-like drug bioconjugated CoS quantum dots and its antiproliferative effect on different cancer cells. *Molecular Biology Reports*. 2023;50(11):9143-9151. [CrossRef]
- 44. Enayatifard R, Akbari J, Babaei A, Rostamkalaei SS, et al. Antimicrobial potential of nano-emulsion form of essential oil obtained from aerial parts of Origanum vulgare L. as food additive. *Advanced Pharmaceutical Bulletin*. 2021;11(2):327. [CrossRef]
- 45. Horstmann Risso N, Ottonelli Stopiglia CD, Oliveira MT, et al. Chlorhexidine nanoemulsion: a new antiseptic formulation. International Journal of Nanomedicine. 2020:6935-6944. [CrossRef]
- Syed UT, Leonardo Is, Lahoz R, et al. Microengineered membranes for sustainable production of hydrophobic deep eutectic solventbased nanoemulsions by membrane emulsification for enhanced antimicrobial activity. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering. 2020;8(44):16526-16536. [CrossRef]
- Wang G. Structural biology of antimicrobial peptides by NMR spectroscopy. *Current Organic Chemistry*. 2006;10(5):569-581. [CrossRef]
- 48. Neves MA, Ung P, Uemura K, et al. Antimicrobial oil-in-water nanoemulsions: Synergistic effect of nisin and carvacrol against Bacillus subtilis. *J Food Sci Eng.* 2016;6:63-74. [CrossRef]
- 49. Pathania R, Kaushik R, Khan MA. Essential oil nanoemulsions and their antimicrobial and food applications. *Current Research in Nutrition and Food Science Journal*. 2018;6(3):626-643. [CrossRef]
- 50. Saini A, Panesar PS, Dilbaghi N, Prasad M, Bera MB. Lutein extractloaded nanoemulsions: Preparation, characterization, and application in dairy product. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*. 2022;46(11):e17082. [CrossRef]

58

- 51. Ahmad I, Al-dolaimy F, Kzar MH, et al. Microfluidic-based nanoemulsion of Ocimum basilicum extract: Constituents, stability, characterization, and potential biomedical applications for improved antimicrobial and anticancer properties. *Microscopy Research and Technique*. 2024;87(3):411-423. [CrossRef]
- 52. Tsitlakidou P, Tasopoulos N, Chatzopoulou P, Mourtzinos I. Current status, technology, regulation and future perspectives of essential oils usage in the food and drink industry. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*. 2023;103(14):6727-6751. [CrossRef]
- 53. Rahman MM, Kotturi H, Nikfarjam S, Bhargava K, et al. Antimicrobial Activity of Polycaprolactone Nanofiber Coated with Lavender and Neem Oil Nanoemulsions against Airborne Bacteria. *Membranes*. 2024;14(2):36. [CrossRef]







Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy, Atatürk University, Erzurum, Turkey



Received	
Accepted	
Publication Date	

01.02.2024 10.04.2024 23.04.2024

Corresponding author: Mehmet KOCA

E-mail: kocamehmet@atauni.edu.tr Cite this article: Koca M. Comparison of *In Silico* AChE Inhibitory Potentials of Some Donepezil Analogues. *Pharmata*. 2024;4(2):60-63.



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 4.0 International License.

Comparison of *In Silico* AChE Inhibitory Potentials of Some Donepezil Analogues

ABSTRACT

Cholinesterases are important in ensuring hemostasis in our body. Excessive increase in cholinesterase function causes various cholinergic dysfunctions. Alzheimer's is a disease characterized by loss of cholinergic activity, which is especially common in the elderly. One of the cholinesterase inhibitors most commonly used to stop the progression of Alzheimer's disease is donepezil. Due to some side effects of donepezil, the synthesis and design of new analogues that may be alternatives to donepezil are reported in the literature. In this study, molecular docking studies were performed to compare the *in silico* AChE inhibitory potential of some new structural analogs of donepezil. Molecular docking studies were performed using Autodock4.2 tools. In this study, the hypothesis emerges that especially compound 1 and compound 5 have the potential to inhibit AChE at least as much as donepezil. In silico docking studies showed that donepezil derivatives designed with bioisosteres of the piperidine ring in donepezil have high binding affinity towards acetylcholine esterase. These results need to be confirmed by synthesis of the donepezil analogues designed in the study and in vitro activity measurements.

Keywords: Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, bioisostere, donepezil, molecular docking simulations, piperidine

INTRODUCTION

Acetylcholine is an important neurotransmitter that plays a role in the regulation of cardiac contractions, blood pressure, intestinal peristalsis and cognitive functions in the body.¹⁻³ Acetylcholine hydrolyzes to choline and acetate.⁴ There are two basic choline esterases in humans: acetylcholine esterase and butyrylcholinesterase. In the central nervous system synapses, the amount of acetylcholine esterase is higher than the amount of butyrylcholine esterase, and the enzymes responsible for the breakdown of acetylcholine are AchEs.⁵ Therefore, most of the studies in the literature on the treatment of pathophysiological conditions observed due to the decrease in the amount of acetylcholine in the central nervous system focus on AChE inhibition.⁶⁻⁸

Alzheimer's is a dementia disease characterized by a decrease in the amount of acetylcholine in the brain and loss of cognitive function. One of the most used drug groups to stop and slow down the progression of the disease is cholinesterase inhibitors. This treatment, based on the cholinergic hypothesis, aims to increase acetylcholine levels by reducing AChE activity in the brain.⁹ Cholinesterase inhibitors prevent cholinesterase from hydrolyzing acetylcholine into acetate and choline components. Thus, the availability and duration of action of acetylcholine at neuromuscular junctions increases. As a result, acetylcholine stimulates the cholinergic receptors and ensures the continuation of cholinergic activity.¹⁰

Donepezil, rivastigmine, tacrine are FDA-approved cholinesterase inhibitors used in Alzheimer's disease.¹¹ Due to its significant hepatotoxic effects, tacrine is not widely used. Donepezil is safer than tacrine and rivastigmine in terms of side effect profile. However, donepezil also has some side effects such as nausea and vomiting that limit the use of the drug. There are many studies in the literature on the design of new molecules that can be bioequivalent to donepezil.¹²

In a study in the literature on the structure-activity relationship of Donepezil, it was reported that various halogens, electron-withdrawing and electron-donating groups located in the ortho and meta positions in the phenyl part of Donepezil generally produced strong AChE inhibitors in the low nanomolar range.¹³ Another study in the literature reported that Donepezil analogues made by replacing the piperidine moiety with piperazines or pyrrolidines exhibited high cholinesterase inhibitory activity.¹⁴

Structural analogs with similar chemical properties that maintain the same biological activity when used interchangeably are called bioisosteres. Bioisosteres make it possible to design and develop new compounds by making structural changes to reduce or eliminate undesirable properties of a compound.¹⁵

The piperidine ring can change the pharmacokinetic properties of the parent molecule, such as lipophilicity and stability against metabolism. Replacing the phenyl spacer that acts as a bridge in a drug backbone with an sp3-rich bioisostere such as piperidine reduces the molecular planarity of the drug and increases its solubility. While one of the enantiomers of substituted piperidine derivatives may exhibit higher biological activity as a eutomer, the other may not show biological activity as a distomer. In structures containing a piperidine ring instead of a phenyl ring Intramolecular π - π stacking interactions between aromatic phenyl rings are not observed and the lipophilicity of the molecule decreases.¹⁶ Various cyclic structures (Figure 1) that may be bioisosteres to piperidine have been reported in the literature.¹⁷⁻²⁰ There are many drugs containing piperidine rings that have received FDA approval.



Figure 1. Some cyclic bioisosteres of piperidine

In silico molecular docking studies have an important place in the discovery of new drugs in terms of predicting the affinity of ligands to target proteins and their interactions with the target site. Molecular docking studies save both time and money in the discovery of new molecules.²¹

In this study, the in silico AChE inhibitor potentials of some structural analogues of donepezil (Figure 2), designed by replacing the piperidine ring in donepezil with bioisosteres, were compared.



METHODS

The crystal structure of AChE (1EVE) and was attained from the Protein Data Bank. Ligand and receptor structures were prepared for molecular docking using Autodock4.2 tools. The grid size was set to $60 \times 60 \times 60$. The spacing between grid points was separated by 0.375 Å. Docking studies were performed on the binding sites of donepzil for the receptor. Grid center was designated at dimensions (x, y, and z): 2.12, 66.13, 67.41. The binding positions of the ligands were determined using the Lamarckian genetic algorithm. A maximum of 10 conformers were considered during the docking process for each compound. Clustering conformations were analyzed with RMSD tolerance of less than 2.0 Å. The binding free energy scores were ranked by the lowest energy representative of each cluster. Protein-ligand interactions were visualized by using Discovery Studio Visualize.²²

RESULTS

According to the in silico results in Table 1, donepezil bound to 1EVE with a free binding energy (Δ G:) of -8.51 kcal/mol, while compound1 bound to 1EVE with the lowest binding energy (Δ G: -8.87). Additionally, other compounds showed high binding affinity for 1EVE (Δ G>-7.50). The lower the binding energy a ligand binds to an enzyme, the higher the binding affinity of that ligand to the relevant enzyme.²³

Compounds	AChE (ΔG, kcal/mol).
Donepezil	-8,51
Compound 1	-8,87
Compound 2	-7,57
Compound 3	-8,07
Compound 4	-8,21
Compound 5	-8,59

Table 1. The binding affinity of the compounds and donepezil to AchE

Based on the docking results shown in Figure 2, In 1EVE and compound complex, two hydrogen bonds were formed. One of the hydrogen bond was between 6methoxy group of the indanone and amine group (NH2) of ARG289. The other hydrogen bond was between carbonyl (C=O) group of the molecule and hydroxyl group (HO-Ph) of TYR121. Hydrophobic interactions occur between the catalytic residues of the protein (PHE330 and TRP84) and the azabicyclo[3.1.1]heptane ring of the compound 1. π - π stacking interaction was observed between aromatic benzene rings of the compound 1 and peripheral anionic site (PAS) residue TYR121.²⁴ Donepezil interacts primarily with residues Glu 199, His 440, Phe 330, Trp 84, Tyr 334, Tyr 121, Phe 331, Phe 288, Ser 286, Phe 290, Arg 289, Trp 279 and thus tightly binds to AchE.²⁵



Figure 3. Docking pose and ligand interaction diagram of compound 1 with 1EVE.

DISCUSSION

In silico docking studies, donepezil derivatives designed with bioisosteres of the piperidine ring in donepezil were found to have high binding affinities towards acetylcholine esterase. In this study, the hypothesis emerges that especially compound 1 and compound 5 have the potential to inhibit AChE at least as much as donepezil. Of course, this hypothesis needs to be confirmed by synthesis of the donepezil analogues designed in the study and in vitro activity measurements.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare. **Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Brown JH, Laiken N. Acetylcholine and Muscarinic Receptors. *Primer on the Autonomic Nervous System*. Elsevier; 2012:75-78. [CrossRef]
- 2. Roy A, Fields WC, Rocha-Resende C, et al. Cardiomyocyte-secreted acetylcholine is required for maintenance of homeostasis in the heart. *The FASEB Journal*. 2013;27(12):5072. [CrossRef]
- 3. Hasselmo ME. The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. 2006;16(6):710-715. [CrossRef]
- 4. A. S. Acetylcholine. Oxford: Academic Press. 2014;49-50. [CrossRef]
- Krsti DZ, Lazarevi T, Bond A, Vasi V. Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: Pharmacology and toxicology. *Curr Neuropharmacol*. 2013;11(3):315-35. [CrossRef]
- Andrade-Jorge E, Reyes-Vallejo N, Contreras-Cruz DA, et al. Synthesis, in silico, and evaluation of AChE inhibitory activity of Nphthaloylphenylglycine derivatives as potential anti-Alzheimer's agents. *Medicinal Chemistry Research*. 2023;32(11):2405-2418. [CrossRef]
- Iqbal J, Mallhi AI, ur Rehman A, et al. Design and synthesis of various 1, 3, 4-oxadiazoles as AChE and LOX enzyme inhibitors. *Heterocyclic Communications*. 2023;29(1):20220169. [CrossRef]
- Drozdowska D, Maliszewski D, Wróbel A, Ratkiewicz A, Sienkiewicz M. New Benzamides as Multi-Targeted Compounds: A Study on Synthesis, AChE and BACE1 Inhibitory Activity and Molecular Docking. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2023;24(19):14901. [CrossRef]
- Palimariciuc M, Balmus I-M, Gireadă B, et al. The Quest for Neurodegenerative Disease Treatment—Focusing on Alzheimer's Disease Personalised Diets. *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*. 2023;45(2):1519-1535. [CrossRef]
- 10. Singh YP, Kumar N, Chauhan BS, Garg P. Carbamate as a potential anti-Alzheimer's pharmacophore: A review. *Drug Development Research*. 2023;84(8):1624-1651. [CrossRef]
- 11. Nair SS, Shafreen RB, Al Maskari SSN, et al. An In-silico Approach to Identify Potential Drug Molecules for Alzheimer's Disease: A Case Involving Four Therapeutic Targets. *Letters in Drug Design & Discovery*. 2022;19(6):541-548. [CrossRef]
- Koly HK, Sutradhar K, Rahman MS. Acetylcholinesterase inhibition of Alzheimer's disease: Identification of potential phytochemicals and designing more effective derivatives to manage disease condition. *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics*. 2023;41(22):12532-12544. [CrossRef]

- 13. Azusada T, Baybay E, Chi J, et al. One-step microwave enhanced synthesis, biological evaluation, and molecular modeling investigations of donepezil analogs as acetylcholinesterase inhibitors. *Results in Chemistry*. 2024;7:101226. [CrossRef]
- Kareem RT, Abedinifar F, Mahmood EA, Ebadi AG, Rajabi F, Vessally E. The recent development of donepezil structure-based hybrids as potential multifunctional anti-Alzheimer's agents: highlights from 2010 to 2020. *RSC Advances*. 2021;11(49):30781-30797. [CrossRef]
- Mei Y, Yang B. Application of amide bioisosteres in the optimization of lead compounds. *Progress in Chemistry*. 2016;28(9):1406. [CrossRef]
- Subbaiah MA, Meanwell NA. Bioisosteres of the phenyl ring: recent strategic applications in lead optimization and drug design. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. 2021;64(19):14046-14128. [CrossRef]
- 17. Chernykh AV, Tkachenko AN, Feskov IO, et al. Practical Synthesis of Fluorinated Piperidine Analogues Based on the 2-Azaspiro [3.3] heptane Scaffold. *Synlett*. 2016;27(12):1824-1827. [CrossRef]
- Degorce SbL, Bodnarchuk MS, Scott JS. Lowering lipophilicity by adding carbon: azaspiroheptanes, a log D lowering twist. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2019;10(8):1198-1204. [CrossRef]
- Kirichok AA, Tkachuk H, Kozyriev Y, et al. 1-Azaspiro[3.3]heptane as a Bioisostere of Piperidine. *Angewandte Chemie*. 2023;135(51):e202311583. [CrossRef]
- Sheffler DJ, Nedelcovych MT, Williams R, et al. Novel GlyT1 inhibitor chemotypes by scaffold hopping. Part 2: Development of a [3.3. 0]-based series and other piperidine bioisosteres. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*. 2014;24(4):1062-1066. [CrossRef]
- Dilara E, Yalçin İ. Rasyonel ilaç tasariminda moleküler mekanik ve moleküler dinamik yöntemlerin kullanılma amaci. *Journal of Faculty of Pharmacy of Ankara University*. 2020;44(2):334-355.
 [CrossRef]
- Koca M, Bilginer S. New benzamide derivatives and their nicotinamide/cinnamamide analogs as cholinesterase inhibitors. *Molecular Diversity*. 2022;26(2):1201-1212. [CrossRef]
- Azam SS, Abbasi SW. Molecular docking studies for the identification of novel melatoninergic inhibitors for acetylserotonin-O-methyltransferase using different docking routines. *Theoretical Biology and Medical Modelling*. 2013;10:1-16. [CrossRef]
- Johnson G, Moore S. The peripheral anionic site of acetylcholinesterase: structure, functions and potential role in rational drug design. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*. 2006;12(2):217-225. [CrossRef]
- Peitzika S-C, Pontiki E. A review on recent approaches on molecular docking studies of novel compounds targeting acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer disease. *Molecules*. 2023;28(3):1084. [CrossRef]